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Revenues in EUR m
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transport companies to make their services more 

attractive, more efficient and faster. 

Group non-financial statement 

Implementation of Directive 2014/95/EU of the EU 

(Reporting obligation for non-financial information) 

in German law requires capital market-oriented 

companies in Germany to publish annual reports 

related to environmental protection, social 

responsibility and treatment of employees, respect 

for human rights as well as combating corruption 

and bribery from financial year 2017 onwards. For 

financial year 2020, init has submitted a group non-

financial statement in accordance with Sections 

289b, 289c, 315b, 315c HGB, which will be published 

simultaneously with the annual report in a separate 

group non-financial report on init’s website at: 

https://www.initse.com/ende/investors/financial-

reports. 

Research and Development 

The research and development department is an 

important element of the init group to further 

improve our competitiveness. On the one hand, 

technical innovations and developments on the 

market have to be observed in order to turn these 

into our own innovative products at an early stage. 

On the other hand, the challenge lies in bringing 

technical innovations onto the market at the right 

time. The high level of training of our employees in 

research and development combined with 

collaboration with universities and research 

institutes ensures that we can react quickly to new 

technological developments.  

In financial year 2020 some 500 init hardware and 

software developers at the Karlsruhe, Braunschweig, 

Bruchsal, Berlin, Hamburg, Maynooth, Pasching, 

Tampere and Seattle sites were working on new 

products and product concepts as well as on further 

developing existing products. In addition, numerous 

new customised software developments and 

interfaces were realised.  

In 2020, the init group spent a total of EUR 11.0m 

(previous year: EUR 10.4m) on the basic development 

of new products and the enhancement of existing 

ones independent from customers. This is equivalent 

to 6.1 per cent of revenues (previous year: 

6.7 per cent). Customer-funded new and further 

developments were also accomplished as part of 

projects, which add up to around three times that 

amount. As in the previous year, no development 

costs were capitalised.  

EUR 11.0 m 

was spent on the basic development of new products 
in 2020.   

In order to be able to provide answers and solutions 

to the future requirements of customers at an early 

stage, init continues to participate with its own 

research team in research and funded projects with a 

wide range of focal points. 

The iQMobility project was thus successfully 

concluded at the end of June 2020. init partnered 

with Scania AB (publ), Sweden, to develop 

standardised interfaces which will allow the 

integration of autonomous controlled vehicles into 

the existing public transport in the future. By being 

part of this project which started back in 2017, init 

was able to acquire experience with autonomous 

vehicles very early on. 

The German-French research project called  

U-THREAT was also started in 2017 and was brought 

to a successful conclusion in October 2020. The work 

package managed by init resulted in innovative 

algorithms which can generate automatic 

suggestions for rail replacement services and 

diversions. These new programme modules will in 

future add more functions and automation to init’s 

planning and control systems. 

https://www.initse.com/ende/investors/financial-reports
https://www.initse.com/ende/investors/financial-reports












The init group achieves a new revenue record in financial year 
2020. 



Incoming orders at year-end amounted to EUR 154.6m. 



Order backlog at year-end amounted to EUR 125.8m. 







 

 







  

Probability of 

occurrence (%)  
Scope for damage 

EUR m 

low  

0 < probability of 

occurrence ≤ 33  < 0.5 

moderate  

33 < probability of 

occurrence ≤ 66  0.5 to 2 

high  

66 < probability of 

occurrence ≤ 100  > 2 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Risk category  

Probability of 

occurrence  Scope for damage 
Risk from developing 

new markets  low  high 
Risks from founding new 

entities  low  high 
Risks from irregularities 

in company  moderate  moderate 
 



Risk category  

Probability of 

occurrence  

Scope for 

damage 
Environment and competition  moderate  moderate 
Market development and trends  low  low 

Industry and customers  low  moderate 
Hosting and operating business  moderate  low 
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Risk category  
Probability of 

occurrence  
Scope for 

damage 
Quality risks  low  moderate 
Fluctuations in cost of materials  moderate  moderate 
Discontinuation of parts  moderate  low 
 
Human resources risks 

Lack of applicants/skilled labour (RC: 
moderate) 

The experience, individual expertise and 

professional competence and qualifications of the 

employees are the key to the success of the init group. 

The labour market situation in Germany and 

particularly in the technology region of Karlsruhe 

remains very difficult. There are challenges in 

recruiting qualified personnel and in keeping them 

in the company in the long term. init counters 

personnel risks by operating a long-term personnel 

policy, intensifying the measures for personnel 

development and various additional benefits.  

Risks from the loss of (key) personnel (RC: 
moderate) 

The loss of key personnel can have a significant 

impact on ongoing customers projects and contracts. 

To support our employees and their families, we offer 

various programmes related to health management 

such as free health check-ups. By making stand-in 

arrangements we keep the impact on projects and 

contracts low.  

Pandemic (RC: moderate) 

Due to the current development related to the spread 

of the coronavirus, there is an elevated health risk for 

our employees and their families. We have made all 

possible arrangements and safeguards to counter 

this risk and follow the recommendations of the 

Robert-Koch-Institute.  

Risk category  
Probability of 

occurrence  
Scope for 

damage 
Lack of applicants/skilled 
labour  low  moderate 
Loss of key personnel  moderate  moderate 
Pandemic  moderate  low 
 
Project risks 

Project risks (RC: high) 

A crucial success factor for the init group is project 

management. For each major project, init 

implements a project plan for constant progress 

monitoring. Project risks are analysed regularly by 

controlling in cooperation with the project lead and 

project contact persons. The projects are analysed in 

terms of financial aspects as well as in terms of 

suppliers, development, contract and other 

significant risks to initiate corresponding 

countermeasures. Costings, order situation and 

project progress are regularly examined for the 

purpose of a variance analysis. Currently two 

projects are classified as critical and appropriate 

measures to improve the situation have already been 

implemented. 

Further project risks arise from the coronavirus 

pandemic, particularly from the restrictions on 

contact and travel. To ensure the safety of our 

employees and our customers’ employees, 

appointments were conducted via video 

teleconferencing. Additional hygiene concepts have 

to be prepared and complied with for appointments 

requiring physical attendance. Flexibility in 

planning is still indispensable due to the dynamic 

changes in the pandemic containment measures. 

These requirements result in a higher planning effort 

and an elevated planning risk for init, which may 

lead to delays in projects.  

  



  

Risk category  

Probability of 

occurrence  

Scope for 

damage 
IT risks related to data 

security  low  low 
IT risks related to GDPR  moderate  moderate 
IT risks related to user 

behaviour  moderate  high 

 





Risk category  

Probability of 

occurrence  Scope for damage 
Exchange rate risk  moderate  moderate 
Interest rate risk  low  low 
Credit risk  low  low 
Loan risk  low  high 
Prefinancing  moderate  moderate 
Risk from the 

coronavirus crisis  low  high 
Pension-related risks  moderate  low 
 

Risk category  

Probability of 

occurrence  Scope for damage 
Legal risks  low  moderate 
Fiscal risks  moderate  moderate 
 







 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Name  

Fixed component in 

EUR k  
Variable component 

in EUR k 
Hans-Joachim Rühlig  50  96 
Ulrich Sieg  25  48 
Christina Greschner  25  48 
Drs. Hans Rat  25  48 
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CONSOLIDATED 
INCOME STATEMENT 

for the financial year 2020 (IFRS) 

EUR '000  Notes no.  
01/01/ to 

31/12/2020  
01/01 to 

31/12/2019 
       
Revenues  4, 36  180,668  156,464 
Cost of sales  5  -118,501  -103,226 
Gross profit    62,167  53,238 
Sales and marketing expenses    -17,986  -16,709 
General administrative expenses    -16,823  -13,328 
Research and development expenses  6, 21  -10,964  -10,440 
Other operating income  7  3,329  3,355 
Other operating expenses    -289  -176 
Foreign currency gains and losses  8  28  673 
Expenses and income from associated companies  22  180  -373 
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)    19,642  16,240 
Interest income    93  102 
Interest expenses    -999  -1,104 
Earnings before taxes (EBT)    18,736  15,238 
Income taxes  9, 23  -3,793  -3,903 
Net profit    14,943  11,335 
thereof attributable to equity holders of parent company    14,924  11,332 
thereof non-controlling interests    19  3 
Earnings and diluted earnings per share in EUR  11  1.50  1.13 
       

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

for the financial year 2020 (IFRS) 

EUR '000  
01/01 to 

31/12/2020  
01/01 to 

31/12/2019 
     
Net profit  14,943  11,335 
Items to be reclassified to the income statement:     

Net gains (+) / net losses (–) on currency translation  -3,552  389 
Items not to be reclassified to the income statement:     

Actuarial losses on defined benefit obligations for pensions after taxes  -444  -986 
Total other comprehensive income  -3,996  -597 
Total comprehensive income  10,946  10,738 

thereof attributable to equity holders of the parent company  10,927  10,735 
thereof non-controlling interests  19  3 
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CONSOLIDATED 
BALANCE SHEET 

as of 31 December 2020 (IFRS) 
Assets       
       
EUR '000  Notes no.  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  14, 32  32,211  26,174 
Marketable securities and bonds  15, 32  40  37 
Trade accounts receivable  16, 32  38,650  43,025 
Contract assets  16, 32  22,174  22,099 
Receivables from related parties  35  174  52 
Inventories  17  32,626  27,783 
Income tax receivable    966  810 
Other current assets  18  3,207  3,734 
Current assets, total    130,048  123,714 
       
Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment  19  57,363  50,805 
Investment property  20  1,401  1,480 
Goodwill  21  12,488  9,035 
Other intangible assets  21  18,582  8,765 
Interests in associated companies  22  570  390 
Deferred tax assets  23  3,102  3,017 
Other non-current assets  24  3,091  3,192 
Non-current assets, total    96,597  76,684 
       

       

       

       

       

       

       
       
       

Assets, total    226,645  200,398 
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Liabilities and shareholders’ equity       

       
EUR '000  Notes no.  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
       
Current liabilities       
Bank loans  25, 32  17,480  17,842 
Trade accounts payable  25, 32  7,541  8,560 
Contract liabilities  16, 25  15,246  16,435 
Advance payments received  25  1,360  747 
Income tax payable  25  1,011  3,040 
Provisions  28  11,627  10,263 
Other current liabilities  25, 26  19,924  20,697 
Current liabilities, total    74,189  77,584 
Non-current liabilities       
Bank loans  25, 32  19,979  12,228 
Deferred tax liabilities  23  5,793  2,619 
Pensions accrued and similar obligations  29  11,767  11,149 
Provisions  28  2,439  1,204 
Lease liabilities  27  13,896  10,067 
Other non-current liabilities  26  8,060  0 
Non-current liabilities, total    61,934  37,267 
Shareholders’ equity       
Attributable to equity holders of the parent company       

Subscribed capital  30  10,040  10,040 
Additional paid-in capital  30  6,619  5,688 
Treasury shares  30  -2,384  -582 
Surplus reserves and consolidated unappropriated profit  30  80,327  70,505 
Other reserves  30  -4,268  -272 

    90,334  85,379 
       

Non-controlling interests    188  168 
Shareholders’ equity, total    90,522  85,547 
       

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity, total    226,645  200,398 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 

as of 31 December 2020 (IFRS) 

 

  Attributable to equity holders of 
Notes no.  30  30  30   

         

EUR '000  
Subscribed 

capital  
Additional 

paid-in capital  
Treasury 

shares   

         
Status as of 31/12/2018  10,040  5,262  -510   

Net profit         

Other comprehensive income         

Total comprehensive income         

Dividend paid out         

Share-based payments    427  128   

Acquisition of treasury shares      -201   

Rounding    -1  1   

Status as of 31/12/2019  10,040  5,688  -582   

         

         
Status as of 31/12/2019  10,040  5,688  -582   

Net profit         

Other comprehensive income         

Total comprehensive income         

Dividend paid out         

Share-based payments    931  442   

Acquisition of subsidiaries         

Acquisition of treasury shares      -2,244   

Rounding         

Status as of 31/12/2020  10,040  6,619  -2,384   
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  the parent company        

Non- 
controlling 

interests  
Shareholders' 

equity total 
  30  29           
    Other reserves       

  

Surplus 
reserves and 
consolidated 

unappropriate
d profit  

Difference 
from pension 

valuation  

Difference 
from currency 

translation  

Securities 
marked to 

market  Total     

               
  60,479  -2,816  3,143  -1  75,597  165  75,762 
  11,332        11,332  3  11,335 
    -986  389    -597    -597 
  11,332  -986  389    10,735  3  10,738 
  -1,287        -1,287    -1,287 
  -20        535    535 
          -201    -201 
  1    -1         
  70,505  -3,802  3,531  -1  85,379  168  85,547 
               

               
  70,505  -3,802  3,531  -1  85,379  168  85,547 
  14,924        14,924  19  14,943 
    -444  -3,552    -3,996    -3,996 
  14,924  -444  -3,552    10,928  19  10,947 
  -4,085        -4,085    -4,085 
  -17        1,356    1,356 
  -1,000        -1,000    -1,000 
          -2,244    -2,244 
            1  1 
  80,327  -4,246  -21  -1  90,334  188  90,522 

 



Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

init SE - Annual Report 2020 - 66 

 

CONSOLIDATED 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

for the financial year 2020 (IFRS) 
     

EUR '000  
01/01/ to 

31/12/2020  
01/01/ to 

31/12/2019 
     
Cash flow from operating activities:     
Net income  14,943  11,335 
Amortisation and depreciation  9,249  7,213 
Gains or losses on the disposal of fixed assets  -30  -65 
Change in provisions and accruals  2,747  2,360 
Change in inventories  -4,122  357 
Change in trade accounts receivable and contract assets  1,716  -11,538 
Change in other assets, not provided by / used in investing or financing activities  529  324 
Change in trade accounts payable  -658  -1,511 
Change in advanced payments received and contract liabilities  176  9,556 
Change in other liabilities, not provided by / used in investing or financing activities  -995  4,038 
Amount of other non-cash income and expenses  882  -937 
Adjustment IFRS 15 retrospective modified  0  0 
Net cash from operating activities  24,437  21,132 
     
Cash flow from investing activities:     
Payments received on disposal of property, plant and equipment  284  96 
Investments in property, plant, equipment and other intangible assets  -7,152  -5,652 
Investment property  0  0 
Investment in subsidiaries less acquired cash  -7,766  0 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  -14,634  -5,556 
     
Cash flow from financing activities:     
Dividend paid out  -4,030  -1,328 
Cash payments for the purchase of treasury shares  -2,244  -200 
Payments received from bank loans incurred  18,899  8,534 
Redemption of bank loans  -11,511  -14,297 
Change in current and non-current lease liabilities  -3,916  -2,849 
Net cash flows used in financing activities  -2,802  -10,140 
Net effects of currency translation and 
consolidation changes in cash and cash equivalents  -964  118 
Changes in cash and cash equivalents  6,037  5,554 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  26,174  20,620 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  32,211  26,174 
     
Additional information regarding the cash flow statement can be found in note 34
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1. Information about init 

init innovation in traffic systems SE, Kaeppelestrasse 4–10 Karlsruhe, Germany (“init SE”) was established 

on 18 August 2000 as the holding company of the init group. The conversion of init innovation in traffic 

systems AG to init innovation in traffic systems SE (HRB 727217) was resolved at the Annual General 

Meeting on 21 July 2016 and implemented with the entry in the Commercial Register on 9 March 2017. The 

init group is an internationally operating system supplier of transportation telematics (telecommunications 

and information technology, globally also called Intelligent Transportation Systems – ITS). init SE is a listed 

company, ISIN DE0005759807, and has been in the regulated market (Prime Standard) since 1 January 2003.  

2. Accounting principles 

The consolidated financial statements and the comparative previous-year figures were prepared in 

compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The consolidated financial 

statements of init SE and its subsidiaries are consistent with the IFRSs applicable in the EU. The consolidated 

financial statements comply with the requirements of Section 315e HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German 

Commercial Code].  

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in euro. Unless otherwise indicated, all figures are 

rounded to a full thousand (EUR k / EUR '000).  

The financial year of all included companies ends on 31 December.  

The income statement was prepared using the function of expense method. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. This does 

not apply to derivative financial instruments and securities and bonds measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies and measurement methods are consistent with those applied in the previous year. 

The following standards are applicable for the first time in the financial year 2020; however, there is no 

impact on the financial position, performance and cash flows of the init group: 

Standard  Title 
   
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7  Reform of Refinancing Rates (phase 1) 
IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements, Definition of Materiality 
IAS 8  Definition of Materiality 
IFRS 3  Definition of a Business 
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EU endorsement received: 

The IASB has published the following standards, which have already been introduced into European law in 

the context of a comitology procedure, but which were not yet mandatory for the 2020 financial year. The 

group did not opt to early adopt these standards. 

Standard  Title  Application 
IFRS 16  Leases Covid 19- Related Rent Concessions  June 2020 

EU endorsement outstanding: 

The IASB has published the following list of standards and interpretations whose application was not yet 

mandatory during the 2020 financial year. These standards and interpretations have not yet been endorsed 

into EU law and were not applied by the group. 

Standard  Title  Publication by IASB 
IFRS 17  Insurance Contracts  May 2017 

Amendments to IAS 1  Definition of Materiality  January 2020 
Annual Improvements Cycle 
2018-2020     

IFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual Framework  March 2018 

IAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract  May 2020 

IFRS 4  Insurance Contracts: Extension of the Transition Period to IFRS 9  May 2020 

IAS 16  Proceeds before Intended Use  May 2020 
IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and 
IFRS 16  Reform of Refinancing Rates (phase 2)  August 2020 

IAS 1  
Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities and 
Disclosures on Accounting Policies  February 2021 

IAS 8  
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
Definition of Accounting Estimates  February 2021 

The standards and interpretations listed above will be applied when they take effect within the European 

Union. There are no plans to early adopt the new standards in the init group. init does not expect this to have 

any significant effect on the financial position, net assets and results of operations. 

3. Accounting policies and consolidation principles 

Provisions  

The provisions are taken into account where a past event has led to a current liability, their utilisation is 

more likely than not, and the amount of the liability can be estimated reliably. Provisions are measured at 
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their settlement amount and not offset against positive profit contributions. Provisions are only setup for 

legal or constructive liabilities vis-à-vis third parties. Non-current provisions are discounted. 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of init SE and its subsidiaries as at 

31 December 2020. Control is achieved when the group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the group controls an investee if, and only if, the group has: 

 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 

of the investee) 

 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 

presumption and when the group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 

group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 

including: 

 The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 

 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

 The group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included 

in the consolidated financial statements from the date the group gains control until the date the group ceases 

to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the group and 

to the non-controlling interests. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 

subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the group’s accounting policies. All intra-group 

assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 

the group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 

transaction. 

If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, 

non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in 

profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 
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Name  Registered office  
Share as of 

31/12/2020  
Share as of 

31/12/2019 
       

Fully consolidated companies       
INIT Innovative Informatikanwendungen in Transport, 
Verkehrs- und Leitsystemen GmbH ("INIT GmbH")1)  Karlsruhe, Germany  100.0%  100.0% 
INIT Innovations in Transportation Inc. 
("INIT Chesapeake")  

Chesapeake/Virginia, 
USA  100.0%  100.0% 

INIT Innovations in Transportation (Eastern Canada) 
Inc. / INIT Innovations en Transport (Canada Est) Inc. 
("INIT Montreal")  Montreal, Canada  100.0%  100.0% 
INIT Innovations in Transportation (Western Canada) Inc. 
("INIT Toronto")  Toronto, Canada  100.0%  100.0% 
INIT PTY LTD 
("INIT Brisbane")  

Brisbane / Queensland, 
Australia  100.0%  100.0% 

Init Innovation in Traffic Systems FZE 
("INIT Dubai")  

Dubai, United Arab 
Emirates  100.0%  100.0% 

initplan GmbH ("initplan")1)  Karlsruhe, Germany  100.0%  100.0% 
INIT Innovations in Transportation Ltd. 
("INIT Nottingham")  Nottingham, UK  100.0%  100.0% 

INIT Swiss AG ("INIT Neuhausen")  
Neuhausen, 
Switzerland  100.0%  100.0% 

initperdis GmbH ("initperdis")  Hamburg, Germany  100.0%  100.0% 
INIT Asia-Pacific Pte. Ltd. ("INIT Singapore")  Singapore  100.0%  100.0% 
CarMedialab GmbH ("CML")  Bruchsal, Germany  58.1%  58.1% 
CarMedialab Corp. 
("CML Corp.")  

Santa Monica / 
California, USA  58.1%  58.1% 

TQA Total Quality Assembly LLC 
("TQA")  

Chesapeake / 
Virginia USA  60.0%  60.0% 

SQM Superior Quality Manufacturing LLC 
("SQM")  

Chesapeake / 
Virginia USA  75.0%  75.0% 

GO-1 LLC 
("GO-1")  

Chesapeake / 
Virginia USA  100.0%  100.0% 

iris-GmbH infrared & intelligent sensors ("iris")  Berlin, Germany  100.0%  74.5% 
iris – infrared & intelligent sensores NA, Inc. ("iris Atlanta")  Atlanta / Georgia, USA  100.0%  74.5% 
inola GmbH ("inola")  Pasching, Austria  100.0%  100.0% 
HanseCom Public Transport Ticketing Solutions GmbH 
("HanseCom")  Hamburg, Germany  100.0%  100.0% 

INIT innovation in transportations NZ Limited ("INIT Dunedin")  Dunedin, New Zealand  100.0%  100.0% 
Mattersoft Oy ("Mattersoft'')  Tampere, Finland  100.0%  100.0% 

INIT Innovations in Transportations Ltd ("INIT Maynooth'')  Maynooth, Ireland  100.0%  100.0% 
IRIS ASIA-PACIFIC PTY LTD (''iris Melbourne'')  Melbourne, Australia  100.0%  74.5% 
Hansecom BY ("Hansecom Minsk")  Minsk, Belarus  100.0%  100.0% 
Derovis GmbH ("Derovis")  Berlin, Germany  51.0%  - 
DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik GmbH ("DResearch")  Berlin, Germany  51.0%  - 

1) Fully exempted pursuant to Section 264 (3) HGB 
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Name  Registered office  
Share as of 

31/12/2020  
Share as of 

31/12/2019 
       

Associated companies (at equity)       

maBinso software GmbH ("maBinso")  Hamburg, Germany  48.0%  35.8% 
Bytemark Inc. ("Bytemark")  New York, USA  5.1%  5.1% 
       

On 24 April 2020, iris-GmbH infared & intelligent sensors, Berlin (iris-GmbH), acquired 51 per cent of the 

shares in DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group (DVS/DFE). The DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group, 

consisting of DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik (DFE) as the development and production unit and Derovis 

GmbH (DVS) as the marketing and sales unit for electronic on-board vehicle systems, is active in the growth 

market of video recording and transmission systems in public transport. The remaining 49 per cent of the 

shares will be acquired with effect as of 1 January 2022. 

In July, init acquired the remaining 25.5 per cent of the shares in iris-GmbH, Berlin. 

Company formations in 2020 and 2019 

On 16 July 2019, iris-GmbH infared & intelligent sensors, Berlin (iris-GmbH), in which INIT Innovative 

Informatikanwendungen in Transport-, Verkehr- und Leitsystemen GmbH, Karlsruhe (INIT GmbH), holds a 

74.5 per cent stake, founded a subsidiary based in Melbourne, Australia. 

On 26 December 2019, HanseCom and INIT GmbH founded a subsidiary Hansecom BY in Minsk, Belarus. The 

main objective of Hansecom Minsk is to provide app development services on site and thus access the 

capacities in Belarus. The equity capital of 50 TBYN was paid in during 2020. 

Business combinations in 2020 and 2019 

DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group, Berlin  

With the company purchase agreement of 24 April 2020, iris-GmbH or the group acquires 100 % of the shares 

in DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group (DVS/DFE). The shares will be acquired in two tranches.  

The first tranche amounting to 51 per cent of the shares was acquired on 24 April 2020. From this date, control 

is transferred to the group and DVS/DFE is fully consolidated.  

The second tranche for the remaining shares amounting to 49 per cent will be acquired by init with effect as 

of 1 January 2022. 

Due to the purchase of the remaining shares, init has determined that no non-controlling interests are to be 

recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2020 for the second tranche, as 

economic ownership of this was already transferred to init upon acquisition of the first tranche. 
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The DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group, consisting of DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik (DFE) as a 

development and production unit and Derovis GmbH (DVS), Berlin as a marketing and sales unit of electronic 

on-board vehicle systems, is active in the growth market of video recording and transmission systems in 

public transport. In this field, DFE and DVS, both based in Berlin like iris-GmbH, already occupy a leading 

position. 

For this assessment, init has made a significant judgement based on facts and circumstances to ensure that 

the effect of the purchase via the second tranche as part of the step acquisition is appropriately taken into 

account in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2020. 

As part of this assessment, init has reviewed whether the general conditions of the transaction grant a 

present right to income associated with the ownership interest subject to the subsequent acquisition of the 

shares. In this case, the shares of the second tranche would be accounted for as if they had been acquired by 

the group together with the first tranche.  

Indicators of the existence of a present right of the acquirer to receive the income associated with the 

ownership interest that is subject to subsequent acquisition are pricing, voting rights, dividend rights and 

the issue of a call option. 

The purchase price should be structured in such a way that it is fixed or determinable to the extent that it 

does not correspond to the fair value of the shares (or an amount that corresponds to the fair value). 

Consequently, the fluctuations in the fair value of the shares to be acquired are attributable to the acquirer. 

The amount of the purchase price for the second tranche is determined by the contractual provisions in the 

company purchase agreement and is payable to the seller in four instalments on specified dates. The first, 

third and fourth instalments of the purchase price payment are subject to an earn-out clause, which may 

result in init having to pay an amount in addition to the fixed base price to the seller. In the opinion of the 

group management, this amount is not subject to any significant fluctuations or significant future 

judgements. The first purchase price payment is due in the short term and is recognised under current other 

financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 1,410k as of 31 December 2020. The second to fourth instalments 

are due on 31 December 2021 in the amount of EUR 1,568k, on 17 January 2022 in the amount of EUR 4,974k 

and on 31 December 2022 in the amount of EUR 1,518k. init has recognised non-current other financial 

liabilities totalling EUR 8,060k as of 31 December 2020. Against this background, init has determined that 

the purchase price for the second tranche is essentially fixed or determinable. init is essentially attributable 

to fluctuations in the fair value of the shares to be acquired. 

A further indicator is the restriction of voting rights and the entitlement to dividends associated with the 

ownership interest that are subject to the subsequent acquisition. This restriction can be given, for example, 

by the parent company being able to prevent distributions to the non-controlling interests (by gaining 

control) or by the exercise price for the payment of dividends to the non-controlling interests being reduced. 

The company purchase agreement stipulates that all profits for financial years 2019, 2020 and 2021 will be 

retained. The profits of financial year 2022 and distributable but undistributed profits of earlier financial 

years are solely attributable to the purchaser. Consequently, in this respect there is a restriction on the voting 

rights and dividend entitlements associated with the ownership interest, which are subject to the 

subsequent acquisition. 
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The company purchase agreement stipulates that init will acquire the remaining shares amounting to 49 per 

cent (second tranche) at the purchase price described above as of 1 January 2022.  

Against this background, init has accounted for the step acquisition as if 100 per cent of the shares had been 

acquired as of 24 April 2020, and no shares are recognised for non-controlling interests in the consolidated 

financial statements as of 31 December 2020. The acquired goodwill is therefore recognised in full. Similarly, 

the liabilities relating to the acquisition of the second tranche are recognised accordingly in the consolidated 

financial statements as of 31 December 2020.  

After all value-determining facts and circumstances were known for the DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik 

Group, the purchase price allocation was completed in the second quarter of 2020. As of the acquisition date 

24 April 2020, the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik 

Group are as follows: 

EUR '000   

   

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  2,234 
Receivables and other assets  2,292 
Inventories  1,753 
Property, plant and equipment  1,151 
Intangible assets (customer base / technology)  10,326 
Total  17,756 
   

   

EUR '000   

   

Liabilities   

Payables  1,337 
Provisions  2,252 
Deferred tax liabilities  3,151 
Total  6,740 
   

Fair value of net assets and liabilities  11,016 
Goodwill  3,454 
Total consideration for business combination  14,470 

The total consideration for the acquisition amounts to EUR 14,470k, of whichEUR 2,234k stems from the 

compensation for the cash received. The purchase price of EUR 5,000k already paid was paid in cash. This is 

also intended for future purchase price payments. 

The fair value of trade receivables amounts to EUR 2,093k. This corresponds to the gross amounts of the 

contractual receivables. We assume that all receivables are fully recoverable. 
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The acquired customer base was measured using the multi-period-excess earnings method and recognised 

in the amount of EUR 7,375k. The useful life is 9 years. 

The acquired licenses were measured using the relief-from-royalty method and recognised in the amount of 

EUR 2,788k. The useful life is 8 years. 

The goodwill of EUR 3,454k is covered by expected additional business from the portfolio expansion, as the 

product range of the init group will be extended in particular to include video recording and transmission 

systems in local public transport. 

In 2020, revenues of EUR 10,601k and earnings before taxes of EUR 1,229k were included in the consolidated 

financial statements for the DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group. If the DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik 

Group had been included in the consolidated financial statements as of 1 January 2020, consolidated 

earnings and revenue would have been EUR 452k and EUR 3,527k higher respectively. 

Cash outflow due to business combination: 

EUR '000   

   

Purchase price (included in cash flow from investing activities)  14,470 
Cash acquired with the subsidiary  2,234 
Actual cash paid due to company acquisition  2,766 
Actual cash paid still outstanding as a result of the business combination  9,470 

Consolidation methods 

The annual financial statements of the fully consolidated companies are prepared according to the standard 

accounting and measurement principles of the group in line with the IFRSs on the same reporting date as 

the financial statements of the parent company. Where required, any financial statements prepared in 

accordance with local accounting regulations are adjusted accordingly. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The acquisition costs of a business 

combination are calculated on the basis of transferred consideration and measured at fair value at the time 

of acquisition. Costs incurred as a result of the business combination are recorded as expenses and reported 

in administrative expenses. In step acquisitions, the previously held equity by the acquirer is remeasured at 

fair value at the date of acquisition and the resulting gain or loss is recognised through profit and loss. 

The agreed contingent consideration is reported at fair value at the acquisition date. In agreement with IFRS 

9, subsequent changes to the fair value of a contingent consideration constituting an asset or liability are 

reported through profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. A contingent consideration classed as 

equity is not revalued. Its subsequent payment is reported in the shareholders’ equity. Where a contingent 

consideration does not fall within the scope of IFRS 9, it is measured in agreement with the relevant IFRS. 

Capital is consolidated by offsetting the acquisition cost against the group share in the revalued 

shareholders’ equity of the consolidated subsidiaries at the time when control was acquired. The 
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recognisable assets, liabilities and contingent claims and liabilities of the subsidiaries are recognised at their 

full market value irrespective of the amount of the non-controlling interests. Intangible assets are reported 

separately from the goodwill if they are separable from the company or result from a contractual right or 

other right. All positive differences (goodwill) arising from the initial consolidation are capitalised and 

subjected to an impairment test in line with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” / IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 

Negative differences are recognised through profit or loss immediately after acquisition. In case of de-

consolidations, the remaining carrying amounts of the credit differences are taken into account 

proportionally when calculating the disposal result. Measurement using the equity method is based on the 

same principles, with goodwill being reported in the investments. 

Receivables and payables as well as expenses and income between consolidated companies are offset 

against each other. Assets from intragroup services are adjusted by intercompany profits. Deferred taxes are 

recognised to reflect temporary valuation differences from consolidation processes. 

Currency translation 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries of init SE are prepared in their functional currency according to 

IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”. The functional currency of INIT Chesapeake, TQA, 

INIT Montreal, INIT Toronto, INIT Brisbane, INIT Dubai, INIT Nottingham, SQM, INIT Neuhausen, CML Corp., 

INIT Singapore, GO-1, iris Atlanta, INIT Dunedin and iris Melbourne corresponds to their national currency. 

When translating financial statements in a foreign currency to the currency of the init group (euro), the 

assets and liabilities are converted using the current rate on the reporting date, whereas the shareholders’ 

equity is converted using the historical exchange rate. Items of the consolidated income statement are 

converted taking as basis the average currency exchange rate of the year. The resulting conversion 

differences are shown cumulatively in a separate item in the shareholders’ equity (other reserves). 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency are converted with the exchange rate on the 

date of the transaction. Any resulting currency conversion differences are recognised through profit or loss.  

Estimates and assumptions 

To a certain degree, the preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires estimates and 

assumptions to be made by the Managing Board that affect the amount of assets and liabilities reported on 

the balance sheet, the specification of contingent liabilities as of the reporting date, and the presentation of 

income and expenditure during the reporting period. The actual amounts may deviate from these estimates. 

There was no material impact on estimates and assumptions due to the coronavirus on the consolidated 

financial statements for financial year 2020. 

The most important forward-looking assumptions and any other significant sources of uncertainty in the 

estimations that exist on the reporting date which could give rise to the risk of having to adjust the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are explained below. 

Future receivables from contract assets 

Assumptions and estimates are required for the accounting and measurement of future receivables from 

contract assets. There are uncertainties regarding the degree of completion. This is dependent on the 
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assumptions for future hours, material expenses and possible order extensions. For further information 

please refer to note 16.  

Goodwill  

Goodwill is examined for impairment at least once a year or when facts or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying value may have decreased. This test requires the estimation of the recoverable amount to 

be higher than the value in use or the net realisable amount of the cash-generating units to which the 

goodwill is allocated. To this end, corporate management must estimate the foreseeable future cash flows of 

the cash-generating units and, in addition, must also select an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate 

the present value of these cash flows. For further information, please refer to note 21. 

As the group as a whole represents a cash-generating unit, goodwill and licenses with indefinite useful lives 

acquired in business combinations are allocated to this unit as a whole for the purpose of impairment 

testing. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits  

The expenditure from defined benefit plans is calculated using actuarial methods, made on the basis of 

assumptions relating to discount rates, future wage and salary increases, mortality and future pension 

increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such assumptions are subject to significant 

uncertainties. For further information, please refer to note 29. 

Development costs  

Development costs are capitalised as per the accounting principles and measurement methods presented. In 

order to calculate the values to be capitalised, corporate management must make assumptions on the 

amount of cash flow expected in the future from assets, on the interest rates to be applied and on the 

timeframe for the influx of expected future cash flows generated by assets. Research and development costs 

are expensed as incurred. In certain cases, development costs are capitalised (please refer to the explanations 

on other intangible assets in note 21). 

Furthermore, estimates are also necessary for the reporting of value adjustments on doubtful receivables 

and of contingent liabilities and other provisions. They are also needed when determining the fair value of 

non-current property, plant, equipment and intangible assets and when recognising deferred taxes on 

unused tax losses. 

Inventories 

Inventories are required to be stated at the lower of value of acquisition or production cost and the net 

realisable value in accordance with IAS 2.9. In order to secure the lowest of both values, init determines 

inventories by means of experience and evaluation of the markdown from previous projects. Alongside this 

standardised approach, init carries out a case-by-case review of the inventories. Typical reasons for a 

markdown of the inventories are faulty products or technical obsolescence. Goods as well as work in process 

and finished products are combined in one position. The devaluation was calculated on a portfolio basis and 

taken into account to reduce profit. Please refer note 17 for further information on inventories. 
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Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 

The group uses the incremental borrowing rate to calculate the net present value of the lease payments. The 

incremental borrowing rate is determined using as reference the general interest level and the group’s 

internal interest rates for loans of a comparable maturity and duration. The incremental borrowing rate is 

defined by asset class and region of the leased asset and comes to 1.0 per cent for office buildings, 

1.25 per cent for vehicles and 1.25 per cent for IT equipment. For other leases it is determined for the 

individual contract.  

Extension and termination options have to be considered for the determination of the lease period of 

contracts und the valuation of right-of-use assets. init determines the duration of a lease as the contract 

period including potential extension options that are highly likely to be exercised. Multiple contracts contain 

extension and termination options. The group regularly reviews whether a conclusive event has taken place 

or significant circumstances have occurred that can impact the end of lease contracts and thus, an extension 

or an early termination become probable. 

Especially contracts for office buildings include extension and termination options with potentially 

significant impact. Extension and termination options are taken into account once their exercise is seen 

predominantly likely. At the moment a termination option of leased office buildings within the group is not 

taken into account as it is not seen as likely. Refer to note 19 for further information on the right-of-use assets 

and to note 27 for lease liabilities. 

Revenue recognition 

init develops, manufactures, integrates, installs, maintains and operates software and hardware for 

transportation companies and provides related services. Revenues from contracts with customers are 

recognised in terms of time and period, when the power of disposition of goods or services is transferred to 

the customer. The amount that the group is expected to receive in exchange for these goods or services is 

recognised as consideration. Project orders as well as support and maintenance were identified as significant 

sources of revenue . In the project business, the main performance obligations include the delivery and set-

up of a complete system including the associated software and hardware components as well as necessary 

development services. In the project business the performance assessment is input-related (cost-to-cost-

method). The group has come to the conclusion that revenues from delivery and set-up of an entire system 

must be recognised over a period of time, as the customer benefits from the group’s performance and 

consumes it at the same time. The fact that another company would not have to redo the installation services 

the group has delivered so far, proves the service benefits for the customer so far and that the customer uses 

the service of the group while the group delivers it. The group has concluded that the input-based 

methodology is best suited to determine the progress of installation services since there is a direct link 

between the group’s work (hours worked and material processed) and the transfer of the service to the 

customer. Revenues are recognised in the group based on hours worked and the hardware components in 

relation to total expected hours worked and hardware components for completion of service. Revenues are 

recognised over time. Individual dependencies between single contracts may exist, e.g., project contracts 

with maintenance and support agreements concluded at the same time. Maintenance is provided after 

successful completion of the project; hence diverse contract combinations are given. Revenues for 



Notes 

 

init SE - Annual Report 2020 - 79 

 

maintenance and support contracts are recognised over time. Revenues for non project related delivery of 

software and hardware are realised at the point in time of transfer of risk.  

Contract terms with individual customers are considered in order to determine the transaction price, 

therefore, it is assumed that contractually promised goods and services are transferred to the customer and 

the contract will not be terminated, extended or changed. The transaction price is the consideration the 

group receives in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. 

Generally speaking, no variable consideration exists in the init group. However, penalties are often included 

in the project contract terms. These penalties are weighted based on past probabilities and reduce revenue. 

In our experience the probability therefore is very low.  

As a general rule, no financing components exist in the init group. Taking into account the practical 

expedient provided in IFRS 15, the init-group does not adjust the amount of promised consideration for the 

significant financing component since the agreed milestones within a project are usually less than a year 

apart. The difference between performance of service and payment is settled within a year. Maintenance 

contracts usually have a term of up to five years and are paid quarterly or yearly.  

For individual contracts the init-group offers service-type warranties which contain extended guarantees. 

Those are individually separable and are recognised in line with maintenance services. One group company 

offers the statutory warranty for the repair of defects. These assurance-type warranties are recognised 

according to IAS 37 in provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets. Details of the accounting 

methods for provisions for warranties can be found in the note 28 “Provisions”. 

According to IFRS 15, additional costs for the initiation of a contract and certain contract fulfilment costs 

have to be recognised as an asset. No direct costs of a contract initiation were incurred or capitalised in the 

init group. Travel expenses and salary of sales employees were recognised as expenses. 

A contract liability is an obligation of the Group to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 

Group has received or will receive consideration. Where a customer is required to pay a consideration before 

the group provides goods or services, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or falls due. 

The usual terms of payment of our receivables are 30 days without deduction/discount. 

Income from operating leases for investment property is reported in other operating income and spread 

evenly over the entire term of the lease and reported under other operating income. For more information, 

please refer to note 20. 

Interest income is realised when interest has accrued. 

Income from dividends is reported once the group has a legitimate claim to payment. 
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Public subsidies and European Union subsidies  

Public subsidies and subsidies from the European Union are recorded if it has been established with 

reasonable certainty that the subsidies will be granted and the company meets the relevant requirements. 

The expense-related subsidies are recorded as income as planned over the period required to offset them 

against the appropriate expenses which they are to compensate. 

Financial instruments and other financial assets 

The market value was used to determine the fair value of listed securities and bonds. The fair value of the 

derivative financial instruments and loans was calculated by discounting expected future cash flows using 

prevailing market interest rates. Due to the short maturities of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, 

other assets, trade accounts payable and other liabilities, it is assumed that the fair values correspond to the 

carrying amounts.   

EUR '000  New measurement categories IFRS 9 
ASSETS   
Loans and receivables   

Cash and cash equivalents  At amortised cost 
Trade accounts receivable  At amortised cost 
Accounts receivable from related parties  At amortised cost 
Contract assets  At amortised cost 
Other financial assets (current)  At amortised cost 
Other financial assets (non-current)  At amortised cost 
Available for sale financial assets   

Marketable securities and bonds  At fair value through other comprehensive income 

Financial assets reported at fair value through profit or loss   

Derivative financial assets  At fair value through profit and loss 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Financial liabilities recognised at cost   

Bank loans (current and non-current)  At amortised cost 
Trade accounts payable  At amortised cost 
Accounts payable due to related parties  At amortised cost 
Other financial liabilities (current)  At amortised cost 
Other financial liabilities (non-current)  At amortised cost 
Financial liabilities reported at fair value through profit and loss   

Derivative financial instruments  At fair value through profit and loss 

Valuation allowances for individual customer receivables are recorded when it appears probable that they 

will not be recovered, that the invoices issued are not paid. The write-off of a receivable against the any value 

adjustment is made when all possibilities to collect the receivables have been exhausted and these are to be 

regarded as irrecoverable. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term, highly liquid funds with original maturities of less than 

three months from the date of acquisition. 
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Securities and bonds 

Securities are allocated to category “At fair value through other comprehensive income. Following their 

initial recognition, these are reported at their fair value (exchange or market price), with gains or losses 

recognised as a separate item in the shareholders’ equity.  

Trade accounts receivable and contract assets 

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market. A receivable is recognised when there is an unconditional right to consideration from the 

customer (i.e. maturity occurs automatically through the passage of time). After initial recognition, 

receivables are measured at amortised cost less any impairment losses. For trade receivables and contract 

assets, init applies a simplified method to calculate expected credit losses. Therefore, init does not track 

changes in credit risk, but instead records an allowance for credit losses at each reporting date based on the 

overall maturity ECL. The group has prepared an allowance matrix based on its past experience of credit 

losses, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the borrower and the economic environment. 

Likewise, impairment losses are also recognised on contract assets if penalties are foreseeable or indications 

of default by the borrower can be identified. Other gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 

receivables are derecognised or impaired. Contract assets represent the balance of costs incurred plus the 

results of unbilled projects and advance invoices issued. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward exchange contracts, currency options and 

swap transactions to hedge against interest change and currency risks. These derivative financial 

instruments are reported at their fair value at the time of conclusion of the contract and, in the following 

periods, are measured at their fair value. Derivative financial instruments are reported as assets if their fair 

value is positive and as liabilities if their fair value is negative. 

Gains or losses from changes in the current prices of derivative financial instruments that do not meet the 

hedge accounting criteria are immediately recognised through profit or loss. In contrast, the adjustment of 

order values to the current prices on the reporting dates for projects invoiced in a foreign currency always 

has a counter-effect on the revenue recognition. 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined with reference to the current forward exchange 

rates for contracts with similar maturity structures. 

Hedge accounting is currently not applied by the group.  

Inventories  

Inventories are measured at their acquisition or production costs on the reporting date at the time of their 

addition. The lower value out of acquisition or production costs and net selling price is recorded on the 

balance sheet date. If the net selling price of inventories previously written off has increased, their value is 

raised appropriately up to the maximum of their acquisition or production costs. The production costs 

comprise both direct costs and the manufacturing and material overheads incurred in production, any 
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depreciation and other production-related expenses. Borrowing costs are reported as an expense in the 

period in which the debts were accrued. Impairment losses are recognised where necessary. 

Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition cost less scheduled depreciation. The 

depreciation of the historical acquisition cost follows the straight-line method over the average useful life. 

The average useful lives are as follows:  

   
   

Buildings  25-50 years 
Plant and machinery  3-5 years 
Factory and office equipment  3-10 years 

If there are indications of impairment, property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment with IAS 

36. 

Right-of-use assets 

The group records right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the leased asset. According to IFRS 16.23 

the commencement date is when the leased asset has been made available to the group by the lessor in a 

useable condition. Right-of-use assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses and are adjusted in the event of a revaluation of lease liabilities. The cost of the right-of-use assets 

comprises the amount of the lease liabilities, initial direct costs and paid lease payments less any lease 

incentives that may have been received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. 

Depending on their asset class, the depreciation periods apply for the right-of-use assets: 

   
   

Office buildings  1-10 years 
Vehicles  3-5 years 
IT-equipment  3-5 years 
Other  2-10 years 

  

For more information on right-of-use assets, please refer to note 19 and for lease liabilities refer to note 27. 

Investment property  

The land and buildings that serve to generate rental income from third parties is treated as investment 

property. The value is determined using the cost method. The depreciation of the financial investments 

follows the straight-line method over a useful life and is realised over a period of 25 to 50 years.  
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Group as lessor  

Leases of the group where all the opportunities and risks inherent in the property are not substantially 

transferred to the lessee, are classified as operating leases. No finance leases for the group as lessor exist. 

Other intangible assets  

Other intangible assets include customer base and licenses. 

Purchased intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost and amortised using the straight-line method 

over their useful life of three to ten years. 

In accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”, the company capitalises software development costs that 

accrue once it has been proven that the software is intended for own use or for sale and generates future 

economic benefit, that the resources required for completion of the asset are available, that the costs 

attributable to the development can be determined reliably, and the software has become technically 

feasible. Based on the product development process, software is deemed technically feasible upon 

completion of the detailed program and product design. Prior to this, the corresponding costs are recorded as 

periodic expenses. Once technical feasibility has been achieved, the corresponding costs are capitalised until 

the software is marketed and offered for sale. No software development costs were capitalised in 2020 as the 

conditions therefor were not met. 

After initial recognition of the development costs, the cost method is used according to which the asset is 

reported at acquisition cost less cumulated amortisation and cumulated impairment losses. Software 

development costs were amortised per product using straight-line depreciation over a maximum period of 

three years. Depreciation and amortisation commence at the time of sale to the customer. Furthermore, 

capitalised software development costs are checked for impairment of value if events or changes have 

occurred which suggest that the net book value of an asset could have decreased.  

Interests in associated companies  

The interests in associated companies comprise investments in companies accounted for at equity. On 

acquisition, these are measured at acquisition costs. Subsequent measurement takes into account the pro 

rata results of the company, the profit distributions effected and any impairments to be recognised on the 

investment rate. If there is objective evidence that the net investment in the associated company is impaired, 

it is tested as a whole for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. If the recoverable amount is less than the 

amortised carrying amount of the net investment, it is written down to the recoverable amount. 

Impairment of non-monetary assets  

Long-lived non-monetary and intangible assets are checked for impairment if events or changes have 

occurred which suggest that the carrying amount of an asset can no longer be realised. Goodwill is tested for 

impairment once a year or if events or changes have occurred which suggest that the carrying amount of an 

asset can no longer be realised. Where the facts and circumstances indicate that an impairment of value has 

occurred, the carrying amounts of the assets are compared with their prospective future income. For 
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goodwill, this comparison takes place for the group as a whole, as the group consists of only one cash-

generating unit. If necessary, the assets are written down to lower of cost or market. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities  

The company determines its deferred income taxes using the balance sheet approach. Accordingly, deferred 

tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognised in accordance with IAS 12 as income taxes to account 

for the tax consequences of differences between the balance sheet measurements of assets and liabilities 

and the corresponding tax assessment bases, as well as for the future utilisation of unused tax losses. The 

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are calculated on the basis of the prevailing tax rates for the 

taxable profit in the year in which the differences are expected to be reversed. The effect of changes in the 

tax rates on deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is accounted for in the period in which the 

amendment of the law takes effect. An income tax rate of 31.0 per cent was taken as the basis. Deferred tax 

assets for the unused tax losses carried forward of a subsidiary are recorded to the extent that taxable income 

is likely to be available for these, so that the loss carried forward can actually be used. The company 

calculates deferred tax liabilities on the difference between proportionate equity of a subsidiary in the 

consolidated balance sheet and the carrying amount of the investment in the tax balance sheet of the group 

(outside basis differences) if realisation is probable. The company can individually choose the timing of the 

profit distribution of subsidiaries or reinvestment and therefore recognises deferred taxes only on outside-

basis-differences when distribution is planned or foreseeable.  

When the necessary conditions for netting out deferred taxes within a tax group are given, deferred tax 

assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted out.  

Other long-term assets 

The company holds 25 kg gold. The gold is measured at fair value. 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. 

Lease liabilities (short- and long-term) 

init as lessee 

The group applies a single approach and valuation for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases and 

leases with a low value). Lease liabilities are recognised showing the payment obligations for leased assets. 

Right-of-use assets represent the right to use the underlying asset for the period specified in the lease 

agreement. For further information on the right-of-use asset, please refer to note 19. 

At the beginning of the lease, the group recognises lease liabilities, being the present value of the minimum 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. Lease payments include fixed rental payments for the leased 

assets less any incentives and a possible residual value guarantee. The group has no variable lease payments 

that are index-linked or rate-dependent.  
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Lease liabilities are revalued if there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (for 

example, changes in future payments), a change in the incremental borrowing rate or if there is a probable 

change in the valuation of an extension option. 

For further information on the lease obligations recognised in the balance sheet, please refer to note 27. 

Pensions accrued and similar obligations  

The pensions accrued are calculated using the projected unit credit method for defined benefit plans, taking 

into account any future remuneration and pension adjustments. Actuarial gains and losses are reported 

directly in equity through other comprehensive income. Current and past service costs are recorded 

immediately through profit or loss. 

The discount rate for the valuation of the obligations must be determined on the basis of returns, which are 

generated on the market for high-quality fixed-interest corporate bonds on the balance sheet date. According 

to the prevailing opinion, these are corporate bonds with an AA rating. The payments based on the 

obligations are generally calculated taking into account actuarial gains and losses and assumptions are 

discounted to the balance sheet date using the interest rate equivalent to the term. A yield curve is therefore 

required which, depending on the term, represents a yield for AA-rated corporate bonds. 

NOTES ON THE CONSOLIDATED 

INCOME STATEMENT 

4. Revenues 

Revenues are composed of the following amounts: 

     

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Revenues resulting from the application of the POC method and delivery projects  126,927  99,538 
Revenues from maintenance contracts  32,167  31,980 
Revenues from additional and replacement deliveries  21,574  24,946 
Total  180,668  156,464 
     

In the item “Revenues resulting from the application of the POC method and delivery projects”, an amount 

of EUR 37,607k (previous year: EUR 24,124k) stems from revenues of delivery projects. This increase is mainly 

the result of sales from the acquisitions made in 2020.  
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5. Cost of sales 

Cost of sales is composed as follows:  

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Cost of materials and purchased services  57,258  48,202 
Personnel expenses  43,515  37,722 
Depreciation and amortisation  6,193  4,924 
Rental expenses  1,781  1,538 
Travel and entertainment costs  1,007  2,667 
Valuation adjustments on inventories  224  115 
Valuation adjustments on trade accounts receivables  515  960 
Other  8,009  7,098 
Total  118,502  103,226 
     

As in the previous year, the vehicle costs as well as repair and maintenance expenses are included in the 

item “Other”. On the other hand, it includes income from the reversal of provisions of EUR 913k (previous 

year: EUR 656k). 

6. Research and development costs  

Research and development costs, which consist exclusively of personnel costs, are divided into the 

development of software and hardware as follows: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Software  9,330  8,137 
Hardware  1,634  2,303 
Total  10,964  10,440 
     

The slight year-on-year increase in research and development costs is partly due to the acquisitions made in 

2020. 

7. Other operating income  

Other operating income primarily includes allocated benefits in kind and rental income. Additionally, 

EUR 665k (previous year: EUR 528k) results from public subsidies and subsidies from the European Union. 

Income from operating leases amounted to EUR 285k (previous year: EUR 322k). 
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8. Foreign currency gains and losses 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Balance of unrealised currency gains / losses  -4,410  1,287 
Balance of realised currency gains / losses  3,775  -709 
Currency gains / losses from consolidation transactions  663  95 
Total  28  673 
     

Realized and unrealized gains and losses stem almost exclusively from effects resulting from USD and CAD 

positions. 

9. Income tax 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Current income tax  3,726  4,314 
Deferred income tax  68  -411 
Total  3,793  3,903 
     

The tax expenditure resulting from the application of the tax rate of init SE is reconciled to income tax 

expenditure in the following table. The tax rate of the German companies of the init group is made up of 

corporation tax of 15.0 per cent (previous year: 15.0 per cent) plus 5.5 per cent (previous year: 5.5 per cent) 

solidarity surcharge thereon, and trade tax of 15.05 per cent (previous year: 15.05 per cent). For other 

countries the tax rate varies between 0 and 38 per cent. A tax rate of 31.0 per cent (previous year: 

31.0 per cent) is used as the basis for the calculation of deferred taxes and tax reconciliation. 
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EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Profit before income tax  18,737  15,238 
Theoretical income tax expenditure at 31.0%  5,808  4,724 
Tax rate differences for foreign subsidiaries  -1,409  -857 
Tax effect of non-deductible / taxed expenses / income  -471  65 
Tax effects of tax-free increases in net worth  0  0 
Taxes unrelated to accounting period  -62  -78 
Tax effects from results of associated companies  56  88 
Other  -129  -39 
Effective income tax expenditure  3,793  3,903 
     

Effective tax expenditure in %  20.2  25.6 
     

The tax rate in 2020 is below the previous year and below the theoretical tax rate of 31.0 per cent. This is 

mainly due to the earnings of companies with lower tax rates. 

The reconciliation of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities to the deferred taxes reported in the 

consolidated income statement is presented below: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Changes to deferred tax assets  86  -775 
Changes to deferred tax liabilities  -3,174  41 
Offset and recognised in equity  -138  444 
Addition from initial consolidation recognised directly in equity  3,151  0 
Currency adjustments  143  -121 
Deferred tax expense (+) / income (-)  68  -411 
     

The change of deferred tax liabilities includes the addition of deferred taxes from the purchase price 

allocation of DResearch. 

The effects recognised in equity refer to the reported actuarial gains / losses from defined benefit obligations. 
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10. Net gains and losses from financial instruments 

Net gains from the other financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

Interest expense and income: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Financial assets at amortised cost  93  102 
Financial liabilities recognised at cost  -692  -726 
Interest expenses for pensions  -107  -190 
Others  -42  -70 
Interest expense from leases  -157  -118 
Total  -905  -1,002 
     

Currency effects: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Financial assets at amortised cost  4,417  -1,176 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  284  -1 

Financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value through profit or loss  -451  518 
Total  4,250  -659 
     

In addition to impairments and reversals of impairments, the net gains from the loans and receivables also 

include foreign currency effects. 

The net gains and losses from the financial assets and liabilities reported at their fair value through profit or 

loss essentially include the results from changes in market value. 

Further information on impairments can be found in note 16. 

11. Earnings per share 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated net profit due to the shareholders of the parent 

company by the weighted number of shares outstanding (subscribed capital less treasury shares). Since init 

SE had not issued any stock options by the reporting dates, there were no diluted earnings per share. 
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  2020  2019 
     

Net profit (shareholders of the parent company) in EUR '000  14,943  11,335 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding  9,957,103  10,005,661 
Basic earnings per share in EUR  1.50  1.13 
     

12. Paid and proposed dividends 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
Ordinary dividends declared and paid during the financial year  3,982  1,200 
Ordinary dividends proposed at the shareholders’ meeting for approval 
(on 31 December, not reported as liability) 
Dividend for 2020: 55 cents per share (2019: 40 cents per share)  5,461  4,003 
     

13. Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses totalled EUR 78,144k (previous year: EUR 67,776k).  

The acquisition of the DResearch Group resulted in an increase of EUR 3,006k. 

Cost of sales includes the following amounts: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Wages and salaries  36,065  30,905 
Social security contributions  5,912  4,980 
Pension costs  1,075  1,628 
Share-based payment expense  464  209 
     

Sales and marketing expenses include the following amounts: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Wages and salaries  10,568  9,573 
Social security contributions  1,516  1,283 
Pension costs  301  362 
Share-based payment expense  275  133 
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General administrative expenses include the following amounts: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
Wages and salaries  9,395  6,938 
Social security contributions  1,175  979 
Pension costs  265  263 
Share-based payment expense  175  85 
     

Research and development expenses include the following amounts: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
Wages and salaries  8,957  8,512 
Social security contributions  1,684 0 1,570 
Pension costs  319 0 358 
     
 

NOTES ON THE CONSOLIDATED 

BALANCE SHEET 

14. Cash and cash equivalents 

EUR '000  
Fair values 

2020  
Fair values 

2019 
     
Cash in banks (current accounts)  25,972  24,438 
Short-term deposits (fixed-term deposits/call money)  6,239  1,736 
Total  32,211  26,174 
     

15. Marketable securities and bonds  

This item refers to marketable securities and bonds with a total fair value of EUR 40k (previous year: 

EUR 37k). As a permanent impairment in value is assumed, the fair value (market value on the reporting 

date) of the securities and bonds was decreased through profit and loss by EUR 3k (previous year: increased 

by EUR 9k). 
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16. Trade accounts receivable and contract assets 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
Gross trade receivables  43,353  47,627 
Less cumulative value adjustments  -4,703  -4,602 
Subtotal  38,650  43,025 
Contract assets  22,174  22,099 
Total  60,824  65,124 
     

The value adjustments for trade accounts receivable developed as follows: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
As of 01/01  4,602  3,642 
Addition  963  1,004 
Unused amounts reversed  -611  -106 
Currency effects  -287  62 
Increase through acquisition subsidiaries  35  0 

As of 31/12  4,703  4,602 
     

The expenses from the addition for the year as well as the income from unused amounts reversed are 

included in the income statement under “Cost of sales”. 

The past due trade accounts receivable amount to EUR 19.3m (previous year: EUR 17.0m), whereby the 

projects in Dubai account for EUR 3.2m of this amount (previous year: EUR 3.1m). Of the past due trade 

accounts receivable in Dubai, around EUR 3.2m (previous year: EUR 3.1m) was written down. The general 

contractor for the first Dubai project did not pass payments from the end customer worth AED 12.1m on to 

us. init has carried out various enforcement measures in Dubai and Kuwait that have not been successful to 

date. There is therefore a high probability that these receivables will default. 

For contract assets, value-impairing factors which may primarily result from changes in contractual values 

are continuously considered in concurrent project calculations. 

At the reporting date, there were no indications to suggest that debtors of the trade receivables and contract 

assets which were not subject to value impairment would not meet their financial obligations. 

Production orders 

The production orders valued on the reporting date using the percentage of completion method but not yet 

completed are as follows: 
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EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
Costs accrued plus profits from projects not yet invoiced  241,624  225,712 
Less payments received  -234,696  -220,048 
Balance  6,928  5,664 

Of which: contract asset  22,174  22,099 
Of which: contract liabilities  15,246  16,435 

     

17. Inventories 

     
EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Raw materials and supplies  3,391  1,694 
Goods and work in process and finished products  29,235  25,482 
Advance payments to suppliers  0  607 
Total  32,626  27,783 
     

Goods as well as work in process and finished products are combined in one item due to the production 

circumstances. The impairment loss was calculated on a flat-rate basis and recognised in profit or loss. 

18. Other current assets 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Derivative financial instruments  288  28 
Prepaid expenses  852  907 
Other tax refund claims  886  1,324 
Cost to obtain a contract  59  435 
Cost to fulfil a contract  224  359 
Due from personnel  305  354 
Other  593  327 
Total  3,207  3,734 
     

On the reporting date, there were no indications to suggest that the value of the other assets was impaired. 

The tax refund claims are mainly input tax refund claims against European countries inside and outside the 

EU as well as North America. 

The items “Cost to obtain a contract” and the “Cost to fulfil a contract” were depreciated according to the 

stage of completion of the respective contract. 
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19. Property, plant and equipment 

EUR '000  
Land and 
buildings  

Plant and 
machinery  

Other 
equipment  Right of use  

Assets under 
construction 

           
Acquisition and 
production costs           

As of 01/01/2020  34,856  4,760  12,369  15,033  1,363 
Additions in current 
financial year  882  892  2,262  8,526  1,498 
Disposals in current 
financial year  89  113  679  1,205  229 
Reclassification in 
current financial 
year  3,141  -344  751  0  -3,525 
Currency differences  -1,056  -178  -374  -282  0 
Acquisition of 
subsidiaries  1  134  120  0  897 
As of 31/12/2020  37,735  5,151  14,449  22,072  4 
           

Depreciation           

As of 01/01/2020  4,558  2,759  7,726  2,532  0 
Additions in current 
financial year  797  640  2,294  3,365  0 
Disposals in current 
financial year  89  112  656  1,205  0 
Reclassification in 
current financial 
year  0  0  -24  0  0 
Currency differences  -88  -131  -247  -70  0 
As of 31/12/2020  5,178  3,156  9,093  4,622  0 
Carrying amount as 
of 31/12/2020  32,557  1,995  5,356  17,450  4 
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EUR '000  
Land and 
buildings  

Plant and 
machinery  

Other 
equipment  Right of use  

Assets under 
construction 

           
Acquisition and 
production costs           

As of 01/01/2019  34,107  3,823  10,012  0  0 
Additions in current 
financial year  76  1,077  2,747  15,046  1,363 
Disposals in current 
financial year  3  183  509  0  0 
Reclassification in 
current financial 
year  427  0  0  0  0 
Currency differences  249  43  119  -13  0 
Acquisition of 
subsidiaries  0  0  0  0  0 
As of 31/12/2019  34,856  4,760  12,369  15,033  1,363 
           

Depreciation           

As of 01/01/2019  3,633  2,332  6,334  0  0 
Additions in current 
financial year  880  556  1,793  2,532  0 
Disposals in current 
financial year  0  155  484  0  0 
Reclassification in 
current financial 
year  33  0  0  0  0 
Currency differences  13  26  83  0  0 
As of 31/12/2019  4,558  2,759  7,726  2,532  0 
Carrying amount as 
of 31/12/2019  30,297  2,001  4,643  12,501  1,363 

The property, plant and equipment essentially concern the administration buildings at Kaeppelestrasse 4 

and 4a in Karlsruhe, the building in Chesapeake, USA, as well as office equipment and technical equipment. 

Depreciation follows the straight-line method over the average useful life of the asset. Scheduled 

depreciation in 2020 totalled EUR 7,096k (previous year: EUR 5,760k) and is included in the consolidated 

income statement under “Cost of sales”, “Sales and marketing expenses” and “General administrative 

expenses”. The individual figures can be found in note 21.  

Currently there are no restrictions on the right of disposal. The loans for financing the two administration 

buildings are fully secured by land charges in the amount of EUR 1.7m (previous year: EUR 2.8m). 

EUR 8,526k of the additions relate to the capitalization of leases in accordance with IFRS 16. EUR 7,491 k of 

these relate to office buildings and EUR 821k to motor vehicles. The remaining additions to rights of use came 

from the small IT equipment and miscellaneous asset classes. Depreciation of rights of use in the 2020 

financial year amounted to EUR 1,759k from the office buildings asset class, a further EUR 355k came from 

motor vehicles, and the remainder from small IT equipment and miscellaneous. 
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The advance payments of EUR 383k from fiscal year 2019 included in property, plant and equipment have 

been reclassified as an addition to the capitalization of rights of use, as the use and therefore capitalization 

in 2020 was based on the use of the building.  

Right-of-use assets 

The carrying amounts of the rights of use recognised in the balance sheet and the changes during the 

reporting period are presented below: 

EUR '000  
Office 

buildings  Vehicles  
IT-

equipment  Other  Total 
           

At 1 January 2020  11,511  754  96  140  12,501 
Additions during the year  7,491  821  143  71  8,526 
Disposals during the year  -865  -242  -31  -68  -1,206 
Depreciation expense  -1,759  -355  -27  -20  -2,161 
Currency differences  -204  0  -11  5  -210 
At 31 December 2020  16,174  978  170  128  17,450 

 

EUR '000  
Office 

buildings  Vehicles  IT-equipment  Other  Total 
           

At 1 January 2019  7,873  706  55  138  8,772 
Additions during the year  5,639  449  82  92  6,262 
Depreciation expense  -2,001  -401  -40  -90  -2,532 
At 31 December 2019  11,511  754  96  140  12,501 

Right-of-use assets consist mainly of rented office buildings. The right-of-use asset of the office building 

Kaeppelestrasse 6 of init SE in Karlsruhe amounts to EUR 2.975k at the year-end 2020. The additions to the 

rights of use are made up of the offices of iris-GmbH, Berlin, newly occupied in 2020 amounting to 

EUR 3,816k, by the offices of the new acquisition DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group (DVS/DFE) amounting 

to EUR 2,783k, and by the exercise of renewal options of some buildings. 
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20. Investment property 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Acquisition costs as of 01/01  1,603  2,024 
Additions in financial year  0  0 
Changes in property, plant and equipment in financial year  0  -427 
Currency differences  -24  6 
Acquisition costs as of 31/12  1,579  1,603 
     

Depreciation as of 01/01  123  126 
Additions in financial year  57  30 
Reclassifications in property, plant and equipment in financial year  0  -33 
Currency differences  -2  0 
Depreciation as of 31/12  178  123 
Carrying amount as of 31/12  1,401  1,480 
     

Composition of earnings from investment property during the reporting period: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
Rental income from investment property  285  322 
Direct operating expenses* used to generate rental income  21  16 
     
     
* including maintenance and repairs     

The group does not face any restrictions on the disposal of investment property, nor does it have any 
contractual commitments to purchase, build or develop any investment property.  

The investment property is measured at amortised cost plus incidental costs and recognised on the balance 
sheet at a carrying amount of EUR 1.4m (previous year: EUR 1.5m). The buildings are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over a useful life of 50 years or 27.5 years. 

As of 31 December 2019, the property at Kaeppelestraße 8 was reclassified due to a change in use as a result 
of own use. Acquisition costs of EUR 427k were reclassified to property, plant and equipment. 

The fair value at the end of the reporting period approximates the carrying amount and is determined using 
the discounted cash flow method. The fair value was determined using the discounted cash flow method. 
The measurement of investment property is dependent upon the assumptions used to calculate future cash 
flows. Changes in the interest rate, the expected price developments and market conditions affect the future 
cash flows and, in consequence, the amount of the fair values. The valuation was done internally because of 
the principle of materiality and the expected immaterial difference between fair value and carrying amount. 

The operation, maintenance and care of the land and buildings are handled by the tenants, who also bear 
the related costs. 
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21. Goodwill and other intangible assets 

EUR '000  Goodwill  

 
Internally 

generated 
software  

Licences 
and others 

       

Acquisition and production costs       

As of 01/01/2020  9,035  8,483  18,690 
Additions in current financial year  0  0  1,618 
Disposals in current financial year  0  0  49 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  3,453  0  10,326 
Currency differences  0  0  -4 

As of 31/12/2020  12,488  8,483  30,580 
       

Amortisation       

As of 01/01/2020  0  8,483  9,925 
Additions in current financial year  0  0  2,123 
Disposals in current financial year  0  0  49 
Currency differences  0  0  -1 
As of 31/12/2020  0  8,483  11,998 
Carrying amount as of 31/12/2020  12,488  0  18,582 
       

EUR '000  Goodwill  

 
Internally 

generated 
software  

Licences 
and others 

       

Acquisition and production costs       

As of 01/01/2019  9,035  8,483  18,356 
Additions in current financial year  0  0  389 
Disposals in current financial year  0  0  55 
As of 31/12/2019  9,035  8,483  18,690 
       

Amortisation       

As of 01/01/2019  0  8,483  8,584 
Additions in current financial year  0  0  1,396 
Disposals in current financial year  0  0  55 
As of 31/12/2019  0  8,483  9,925 
Carrying amount as of 31/12/2019  9,035  0  8,765 

The scheduled depreciation for items of property, plant and equipment and amortisation other intangible 

assets totalled EUR 9,214k (previous year: EUR 7,191k) and is included in the consolidated income statement 

under “Cost of sales” (EUR 6,193k), “Sales and marketing expenses” (EUR 1,744k) and “General administrative 
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expenses” (EUR 1,277k). Of the scheduled depreciation and amortisation in the previous year, EUR 2,532k is 

attributable to the rights of use to be recognised for the first time in 2019 in accordance with IFRS 16. 

Impairment test of goodwill  

So far, no impairment of goodwill was necessary. 

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is determined on the basis of the calculation of the 

economic benefit of using cash flow projections based on budgetary accounting approved by the Managing 

Board for a period of three years. Steady cash flows were shown for the following period. The interest rate 

applied for the discounting is 12.0 per cent before taxes (previous year: 8.2 per cent). 

The following assumptions taken as a basis for the calculation of the economic benefit involve forecast 

uncertainties: 

 Revenues 

 Free cash flow 

 Discount rate 

 

The global pandemic regarding COVID-19 does not have a significant impact on the above-mentioned 

figures. 

Revenues: Revenues are planned on the basis of the order backlog, the open and announced tenders, offers 

made and past experience. Significantly increasing revenues (+15 per cent) are expected. 

Free cash flow: Free cash flow is the planned EBIT minus notional taxes, investments and changes in the net 

working capital as well as the addition of depreciation. Past experience supports the basis of this 

determination. 

Discount rate: The discount rate reflects the estimate of the company management with regard to the risks 

relating to the cash-generating unit. An interest rate of 8.3 per cent (previous year: 6.5 per cent) after taxes 

was applied. Cash flows arising after the period of three years are determined using a growth discount of 1.0 

per cent (previous year: 1.0 per cent). 

Sensitivity analysis on the assumptions 

In order to assess the recoverability of goodwill, the group performs sensitivity analyses in the course of the 

impairment test. In doing so, assumptions considered possible, such as an increase in the interest rate, a 

reduction in planned sales, and a reduction in the planned free cash flow of the cash-generating unit, are 

taken into account for each planning year. In no scenario considered possible would the recoverable amount 

of the cash-generating unit fall below the carrying amount. 
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Other intangible assets 

Customer base, licences and others: 

The licences include external software costs as well as programming and consulting of EUR 1,988k (previous 

year: EUR 678k). The scheduled amortisation amounts to EUR 468k (previous year: EUR 539k) and is included 

in the consolidated income statement item “Cost of sales”.  

The capitalised technology and the capitalised customer base from the takeover of iris-GmbH in 2016 

amounted to EUR 5,389k (previous year: EUR 5,902k). Scheduled amortisation amounts to EUR 513k 

(previous year: EUR 513k) and is included in the income statement item “Cost of sales”. 

The capitalized customer base from the acquisition of HanseCom in 2016 amounts to EUR 1,013k (previous 

year: EUR 1,151k). Depreciation and amortisation amounted to EUR 138k (previous year: EUR 214k) and are 

included in the "Cost of revenues" item in the income statement. 

The capitalised technology and the capitalised customer base from the takeover of Mattersoft in 2018 

amounted to EUR 905k (previous year: EUR 1,034k). Scheduled amortisation amounts to EUR 129k (previous 

year: EUR 129k) and is included in the income statement item “Cost of sales”. 

The capitalized technology and the capitalised customer base from the takeover of the DResearch Group in 

2020 amount to EUR 9,287k (previous year: EUR 0k). Scheduled amortisation amounts to EUR 875k (previous 

year: EUR 0k) and is included in the income statement items "Cost of sales" (EUR 199k), "Sales and marketing 

expenses" (EUR 640k) and "General administrative expenses" (EUR 36k). Furthermore, licenses amounting to 

EUR 163k were taken over. 

22. Interests in associated companies 

The associated company maBinso software GmbH, Hamburg, is not publicly listed. The business of maBinso 

is the creation, sale and operation of software as well as the related consulting for public transport. The net 

profit corresponds to the comprehensive income and amounted to EUR 452k (previous year: EUR 351k). In 

2020, the pro-rata result for init group amounted to EUR 217k. No distribution was made in the 2020 financial 

year. Amortisation of investments in associated companies was not required. 

The associated company Bytemark is not publicly listed. The purpose of the company is the creation of 

mobile ticketing solutions for transport companies. Revenues for the financial year 2020 totalled USD 1,050k. 

The earnings before tax for the full year 2020 is USD -2,775k. The net profit corresponds to the total result 

and amounts to USD -2,777k (previous year: USD -3,066k). The pro-rata result of the init group for 2020 is 

EUR 0k (previous year: EUR -301k). No distribution was made in the financial year 2020. In financial year 

2019, we wrote off our stake in Bytemark completely. The change since the previous year of USD -650k 

consists of the amount of USD 337k and the write-down of USD  313k. The current and non-current assets 

amount to USD 3,249k. This corresponds to total assets. Together current and non-current liabilities total 

USD 5,038k.  
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23. Deferred taxes 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Deferred tax assets     

Receivables  89  171 
Inventories  1,888  1,600 
Other assets  742  487 
Provisions  597  497 
Pensions accrued and similar obligations  2,194  1,988 
Total deferred tax assets  5,510  4,743 
     

Deferred tax liabilities     

Contract asset  1,997  1,696 
Other assets  902  243 
Property, plant and equipment  469  203 
Goodwill  2,893  14 
Other intangible assets  1,761  2,120 
Other liabilities  178  69 
Total deferred tax liabilities  8,200  4,345 
     

As of 31 December 2020, the unused tax losses carried forward came to EUR 2,160k (previous year: 

EUR 2,590k). These unused tax losses would have resulted in deferred tax assets of EUR 665k (previous year: 

EUR 798k). For the planning horizon, it is unsure whether it will be possible to offset these unused tax losses 

against future tax payments. In general, tax losses can be used indefinitely. The above mentioned amount 

includes tax losses of subsidiaries based in Canada of EUR 59k (previous year: EUR 1,930k). Canadian tax 

losses can be used for 20 years before they expire. Additionally, tax losses regarding the German tax group 

were not considered when recognizing deferred tax assets. Due to uncertainties of recoverability, among 

other things owing to the reference of the tax loss carryforwards to the core area of the company's activities. 

These tax losses may therefore recur in the future. Accordingly, these tax loss carryforwards have not been 

taken into account in the calculation of deferred taxes for reasons of materiality. 

As of 31 December 20120, there were no deferred tax liabilities on retained earnings of subsidiaries on the 

grounds that appropriate distributions are not planned for the foreseeable future. If such distributions were 

made, the tax burden would be insignificant for the group. The temporary differences in connection with 

shares in subsidiaries totalled around EUR 53m (previous year: EUR 44.5m). 

In the reporting period deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of EUR 2,121k were netted out.  
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24. Other non-current assets 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Asset value of pension liability insurance  1,355  1,307 
Security deposits*  425  397 
Gold stock  1,248  1,091 
Other*  63  397 
Total  3,091  3,192 
 
* Non-current financial assets 

On the reporting date, there were no indications to suggest that the value of other assets which are not 

measured at fair value was impaired. 

No non-current financial assets are overdue. 

25. Liabilities 

    31/12/2020      31/12/2019   

    Remaining term    Remaining term 
EUR '000  Total  < 1 year  > 5 years  Total  < 1 year  >5 years 
             

Bank loans (short- and long-term)  37,459  17,480  760  30,070  17,842  1,655 
Trade accounts payable  7,541  7,541  0  8,560  8,560  0 
Contract liabilities  15,246  15,246  0  16,435  16,435  0 
Advance payments received  1,360  1,360  0  747  747  0 
Income tax liabilities  1,010  1,010  0  3,040  3,040  0 
Other liabilities (short-term)  19,923  19,923  0  20,696  20,696  0 
             

In 2020, almost 80 per cent of the contract liabilities from the previous year of EUR 16,435k were recognised 

in revenues in 2020. 

Terms relating to the above financial liabilities: 

The bank loans of EUR 37,459k (previous year: EUR 30,071k) relate to long-term loans of EUR 1,373k (previous 

year: EUR 1,732k) for financing the buildings at Kaeppelestrasse 4, 8 / 8a and 10 which are fully secured by a 

land charge and the resulting current share of EUR 359k (previous year: EUR 1,081k). In addition, there are 

loans for acquisition financing of EUR 11,345k (previous year: EUR 3,345k), investment loans of EUR 5,410k 

(previous year: EUR 1,998k) as well as a long-term loan of EUR 7,915k (previous year: EUR 9,583k). There are 

also euro loans amounting to EUR 11,054k (previous year: EUR 12,332k). 

The long-term loan of EUR 7,915k is subject to minimum capital requirements. A dynamic debt equity ratio 

of 3.5 must not be surpassed. For loans of EUR 2,294k a dynamic debt equity ratio of 2.5 must not be 
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surpassed. If the covenants are exceeded, the loan falls due immediately for repayment. Due to the close 

monitoring and planning of this key figure, as well as the current liabilities and EBITDA, init does not expect 

to exceed this figure in the future. 

The following credit and guarantee lines exist: 

EUR '000    Overall line  
Of which, 
cash line  

Of which, 
guarantee  

Cash or 
guarantee 

           

Banks  2020  91,924  4,824  42,500  44,600 

Credit insurance companies  2020  17,000  0  17,000  0 

Bond line for USA and Canada  2020  60,738  0  0  0 

Banks  2019  92,279  4,179  46,500  41,600 

Credit insurance companies  2019  17,000  0  17,000  0 

Bond line for USA and Canada  2019  75,655  0  0  0 

The credit and guarantee lines are sufficient to finance the further growth of the company. On 31 December 

2020, the drawdown of the cash line totalled EUR 11,054k (previous year: EUR 12,332k), that of the guarantee 

lines EUR 13,771k (previous year: EUR 25,646k), and that of the bond line EUR 60,738k (previous year: 

EUR 75,655k). 

No interest is charged on the trade accounts payable. 

For the terms and conditions relating to the accounts payable to related parties, please refer to note 35. 

For the terms and conditions relating to the liabilities from derivative financial instruments included in the 

other liabilities, please refer to note 31. 
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26. Other liabilities (non-current and current) 

    31/12/2020      31/12/2019   

    Remaining term    Remaining term 
EUR '000  Total  < 1 year  > 1 years  Total  < 1 year  > 1 years 
             

Tax liabilities  2,628  2,628  0  2,390  2,390  0 
Due to personnel  7,186  7,186  0  7,034  7,034  0 
Derivative financial instruments  11  11  0  39  39  0 

Social security liabilities  359  359  0  305  305  0 

Liabilities for services 
not invoiced by subcontractors  424  424  0  22  22  0 
Liabilities from option contracts  0  0  0  4,000  4,000  0 
Lease liabilities  17,100  3,204  13,896  12,554  2,487  10,067 
Sundry  14,171  6,111  8,060  4,420  4,420  0 
Total  41,879  33,819  21,956  30,764  20,697  10,067 

The “Sundry” item mainly contains deferred revenues from prepaid warranty contracts of EUR 3,270k 

(previous year: EUR 3,017k) as well as a long-term financial liability for the payments of the purchase price 

for the acquisition of the DResearch Group of EUR 8,060k (previous year: EUR 0k). The associated current 

share is included in the current financial liabilities. There are no other liabilities with a residual term of more 

than five years. 

The “Sundry” item includes current financial liabilities of EUR 2,841k (previous year: EUR 1,401k). 

27. Lease liabilities (short-and long-term) 

The maturities of the lease liabilities are as follows: 

EUR '000  
Office 

buildings  Vehicles  IT equipment  Other  Total 
           

Within 1 year  2,450  563  58  133  3,204 
More than 1 and up to 5 years  8,646  624  379  45  9,694 
More than 5 years  4,202  0  0  0  4,202 

The annual obligations from rental agreements of init amount to EUR 2,450k of which EUR 578k are 

attributable to the rental of the office building in Karlsruhe (contract term until 2026). No obligations are 

imposed on the lessee upon conclusion of these leasing agreements. 
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The following table shows the carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and the changes during the reporting 

period: 

EUR '000  2020 
   

At 1 January 2020  12,554 
Additions  7,398 
Interest increase  275 
Payments  -3,127 
At 31 December 2020  17,100 
thereof short-term  3,204 
thereof long-term  13,896 

 

EUR '000  2019 
   

At 1 January 2019  8,772 
Additions  6,513 
Interest increase  118 
Payments  -2,849 
At 31 December 2019  12,554 
thereof short-term  2,487 
thereof long-term  10,067 

 

The following amounts were recognised in profit or loss in the reporting period: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     
Depreciation expense during the year  2,160  2,532 
Interest expense  157  118 
Expense relating to short-term leases  150  155 
Expense relating to low-value leases  24  26 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  2,491  2,831 
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28. Provisions 

EUR '000  
As of 

01/01/2020  
Currency 

differences  Utilised  

Unused 
amounts 
reversed  Addition  

Acquisition 
subsidiaries  

As of 
31/12/2020 

               

Provisions for 
warranties  3,883  159  444  268  1,305  562  4,879 

Provisions for 
unrealised costs  5,478  226  0  1,521  796  0  4,527 
Provisions for 
anticipated losses 
related to projects  1,497  40  -37  0  772  0  2,266 

Other provisions  609  5  509  218  2,177  341  2,395 
Total  11,467  430  916  2,007  5,050  903  14,067 
               

Additions for other provisions mainly refer to an addition for a “coronavirus bonus”. 

The provisions for warranties were calculated on the basis of a percentage of average sales in the past two 

years determined from empirical figures in the past. The provisions for unrealised costs essentially concern 

work still outstanding for invoiced orders. 

The provisions for anticipated losses related to projects were set up on grounds of significant technological 

requirements as well as various new developments in one project and were determined in the concurrent 

project calculations.  

29. Pensions accrued and similar obligations 

For the employees of init SE, INIT GmbH, initplan and initperdis there are both defined benefit plans and 

defined contribution plans. The liabilities include obligations from current pensions and for pension 

entitlements of future retirees. The defined benefit obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit 

method. These pension commitments grant employees an old-age pension (independent of salary) after 

attaining the age of 63 (Dr. Gottfried Greschner after departing the Managing Board of init SE and after 

departing as Managing Director of subsidiaries). Risks of inherent in defined benefit plans are affected by 

the capital markets and demographic change. In order to mitigate these risks only defined contribution plans 

have been offered for several years. 
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The following parameters were taken into consideration: 

   

Discount rate in per cent (previous year)  0.54 (1.00) 
Biometric basis  Klaus Heubeck’s “Richttafeln G” (mortality tables) of 2018 
Pension trend in per cent  (previous year)  4.00 (4.00) 
Employee turnover in per cent  (previous year)  0.00 (0.00) 

The company’s pension provisions as of the reporting dates developed as follows: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 

(Defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the beginning of the year  11,564  9,907 
Service cost  101  94 
Interest cost  114  180 
Actuarial gains (–) / losses (+)  643  1,430 
Pension payments  -227  -47 
DBO at the end of the year  12,195  11,564 
     

Plan assets  -428  -415 
Pensions accrued  11,767  11,149 
     

The plan assets contain the asset value of pension liability insurance as well as deposits on a pledged account 

and developed as of the reporting date as follows: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Fair value of the plan assets at 01/01  415  402 
Interest income from plan assets  4  3 
Financial actuarial gains (+) / losses (-)  -1  -1 
Contributions to plan assets by the group  10  11 
Fair value of the plan assets at 31/12  428  415 
     
  



Notes 

 

init SE  -  Annual Report 2020 - 108 

 

With regard to the defined benefit plans, the expenses for pension payments consist of the following: 

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Service cost  101  94 
Interest cost  114  180 
Expenses for pension payments  215  274 
     

In the consolidated income statement, the service cost is included in the “cost of sales” (EUR 79k), the “sales 

and marketing expenses” (EUR 14k) and the “general administrative expenses” (EUR 7k), and the interest 

paid is reported in the item of the same name. 

EUR '000  2020  2019 

Cumulated amount of the actuarial gains 
included in the shareholders’ equity, after deducting deferred taxes  -4,246  -3,802 
     

     

EUR '000  2020  2019 
     

Defined benefit obligation (DBO) at 31/12  12,195  11,563 
Experience adjustments  -265  85 
     

The pension provisions attributable to persons in key management positions totalled EUR 5,110k (previous 

year: EUR 4,866k). Of this, an amount of EUR 744k (previous year: EUR 693k) pertains to two former 

Managing Board members. 

Sensitivities of the principal actuarial assumptions 

The interest rate as well as the life expectancy have been identified as principal actuarial assumptions. 

Changes would have the following implications: 

Implications for the DBO  

+0.5% 
actuarial 

interest rate  

-0.5% 
actuarial 

interest rate  

+1 year 
life 

expectancy  

-1 year 
life 

expectancy 
         

2020  -1,283  415  222  -1,202 
2019  -1,261  557  205  -998 

 

The same method was applied in the calculation of the sensitivity of the DBO as for the calculation of the 

defined benefit obligation. 
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Asset / Liability Matching Strategy 

Reinsurance contracts in the amount of EUR 186k (previous year: EUR 173k) have been entered into in order 

to compensate risks. A further EUR 242k (previous year: EUR 242k) has been deposited on a pledged bank 

account. Due to the small amount involved, the excess obligations are financed from current cash flows. 

Future cash flows 

Expected pension payments (EUR '000):  

2021  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026-2030 
           

312  353  364  382  400  2,150 
           
Previous year           

2020  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025-2029 
           

286  308  348  365  378  2,110 

The weighted average maturity of the DBO of the defined benefit plans is 16 years (previous year: 16 years). 

Defined contribution plans 

In the 2002 financial year, init changed its pension plan regulations for new commitments. Accordingly, the 

company no longer makes any new, direct commitments. The amount recorded as expenses for contribution-

based plans totalled EUR 1,015k (previous year: EUR 857k), of which EUR 176k (previous year: EUR 167k) is 

allocated to persons in key management positions. 

30. Shareholders’ equity 

Capital stock 

The capital stock is divided into 10,040,000 no-par bearer shares each accounting for EUR 1.00 of the capital 

stock. The shares have been issued and are fully paid in. 

  



Notes 

 

init SE  -  Annual Report 2020 - 110 

 

Shares outstanding: 

  2020  2019 
     

As of 01/01  10,003,066  10,010,857 
Acquisition of treasury shares  -96,753  -15,164 
Issue of shares to Managing Board, managing directors and key personnel  19,298  7,373 
Issue of shares to employees  5,024  0 
As of 31/12  9,930,635  10,003,066 
     

Shares of init SE held by members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board: 

Managing 
Board  

Number of 
shares    

Supervisory 
Board  

Number of 
shares 

         

Dr. Gottfried Greschner, CEO*  3,389,100    Hans-Joachim Rühlig  0 
Dr. Jürgen Greschner, CSO  88,500    Ulrich Sieg  0 
Jennifer Bodenseh, CFO  3,686    Christina Greschner  371,523 
Matthias Kühn, COO  7,380    Drs. Hans Rat  0 
         
*  3,345,000 of which are held by Dr. Gottfried Greschner GmbH & Co. Vermögens-Verwaltungs KG, Karlsruhe. Dr. Gottfried Greschner holds a 74.2 per cent 
stake in this company. 

Concerning the information provided pursuant to Section 26 (1) WpHG [“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”: German 

Securities Trading Act] we refer to note 43. 

Conditional capital  

The company’s Annual General Meeting adopted a resolution on 21 July 2016 to create conditional capital 

of EUR 5,000,000. The company’s capital stock may be increased by up to EUR 5,000,000 by issuing up to 

5,000,000 new bearer shares. The conditional capital increase was made solely for the purpose of granting 

shares, on the exercise of option or conversion rights or on the performance of option or conversion 

obligations, to holders of bonds with warrants attached and convertible bonds issued as authorised by the 

Annual General Meeting of 21 July 2016. 
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Authorized capital 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 15 May 2019, the Managing Board is 

authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital of the Company in the 

period until 15 May 2024, once or in partial amounts on several occasions by up to a total of 1,004,000.00 by 

issuing new no-par value bearer shares with or without voting rights ("Authorized Capital 2019"). The capital 

increases may be carried out against cash and/or non-cash contributions. The Managing Board is also 

authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the shareholders' statutory subscription 

right, in particular in the following cases: 

 for a capital increase against cash contribution, up to a total of 10 per cent of the existing share capital, 

provided that the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower than the stock exchange price of 

the already listed shares of the same class and features. 

 insofar as it is necessary to grant a subscription right to new shares to the extent to which they would be 

entitled after exercising the conversion and/or option rights or after fulfilling the conversion and/or option 

obligations 

 for the fractional amounts resulting from the subscription ratio; 

 to open up additional capital markets; 

 for a capital increase against contributions in kind for the acquisition of companies, parts of companies or 

interests in companies or other assets (even if a purchase price component is paid out in cash in addition 

to the shares) or within the scope of company mergers or amalgamations 

 to transfer up to 250,000 new shares as employee shares. 

Additional paid-in capital  

The additional paid-in capital on 31 December 2020 amounted to EUR 6,619k, of which EUR 3,141k resulted 

from the premium of the shares sold at the time of the initial public offering. Due to the sale of treasury 

shares in 2007, the additional paid-in capital increased by EUR 514k. In the period from 2005 to 2019 an 

amount of EUR 2,033k was transferred to additional paid-in capital as part of the recognised expenses from 

the share-based payments (see note 37). In 2020, an amount of EUR 931k was transferred. 

Treasury shares  

The treasury shares as of 1 January 2020 totalled 36,934 shares. Based on a resolution passed at the Annual 

General Meetings of 13 May 2015 and 26 June 2020, the company is authorised to purchase treasury shares. 

On 4 March 2020 a decision was made to repurchase up to 20,000 shares. 20,000 shares were repurchased 

from 5 March to 17 March 2020 at an average price of EUR 20.18. On 17 March 2020 another decision was 

made to repurchase up to 70,000 shares. 51,613 shares were repurchased from 18 March to 30 April 2020 at 

an average price of EUR 19.49. Additionally on 28 July 2020 a decision was made to repurchase up to 

25,140 shares. 25,140 shares were repurchased from 28 July to 18 August 2020 at an average price of 

EUR 32.71. 

In connection with the stock ownership plan, 19,298 shares were transferred to board members and 

managing directors with a vesting period of five years during which shares cannot be resold and 5,024 shares 

with a vesting period of two years were transferred to employees during which shares cannot be resold 
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either. 19,675 shares of the total 24,322 transferred shares were sold to subsidiaries for transfer to their 

employees (refer to note 37). On 31 December 2020, there were 109,365 treasury shares. 

The company’s treasury shares were measured at acquisition cost at EUR 2,384k (previous year: EUR 582k) 

and openly deducted from the equity capital. The total of 109,365 shares as of 31 December 2020 correspond 

to an imputed share of EUR 109,365 (1.09 per cent) of the capital stock. The shares were repurchased at an 

average price of EUR 21.81 per share. The treasury shares were repurchased for use as consideration within 

the scope of business combinations and to acquire other companies or parts of companies or participations, 

or, where required, to open up additional capital markets or to issue them to employees and members of the 

Managing Board. 

Surplus reserves and consolidated unappropriated profit  

The surplus reserves and consolidated unappropriated profit in the amount of EUR 80,327k (previous year: 

EUR 70,505k) include the retained earnings of init SE and results of init SE and the consolidated subsidiaries 

generated since group affiliation. 

Other reserves  

Difference from pension measurement: The actuarial gains and losses are recorded through other 

comprehensive income. 

Difference from currency translation: This reserve is used to record differences due to translating financial 

statements from foreign currencies into the reporting currency. 

Marking securities to market: Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial instruments are 

recognised in this reserve. 

Capital management   

The objective of capital management is to ensure financial flexibility for long-term business continuity and 

to secure strategic activities. Here, the init group focuses on securing liquidity, limiting the financial risks 

and maintaining the high equity ratio. The group has shown a consistently high equity ratio in the last few 

years. At the annual shareholders’ meeting 2016, a resolution to create conditional capital of EUR 5,000,000 

was passed. In addition, a resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 15 May 2019 created authorised 

capital of up to EUR 1,004,000. 

31. Objectives and methods of financial risk management  

The main financial instruments used by the company – with the exception of derivative financial 

instruments – include cash, securities, trade accounts receivables and loans. The purpose of the securities 

and bonds is the investment of funds of the group. The group has a number of other financial assets and 

liabilities, including trade accounts receivable and payable, which accrue directly within the scope of its 

business activities. 
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Furthermore, the group also acquires derivative financial instruments. These predominantly include 

forward exchange transactions and currency options. The purpose of these derivative financial instruments 

is the management of currency risks resulting from the business activities of the group. 

The group has always pursued the policy of refraining from dealings in financial instruments and foreign 

currencies. However, since init also tries to keep its options open with regard to hedging currency risks, it 

may incur currency losses. 

In addition, init holds 25kg of gold. The value of gold is subject to fluctuations as it is marked to market on 

the reporting date. The changes in value are reported in the income statement. There were no changes to the 

objectives or methods of financial risk management. 

The main risks of the group in regard to financial instruments include foreign currency risks and risks of 

default. Corporate management regularly reviews and monitors each of these risks, which are described 

more specified in the following. 

Foreign currency risk  

Due to foreign revenues, the change in exchange rates constitutes a substantial risk. To hedge the foreign 

currency risk, the group uses forward exchange transactions for project business transactions. The hedges 

must be in the same currency as the underlying secured transaction. The group usually only enters into 

hedging transactions once a firm commitment has been made. 

IFRS 7 provides that disclosures of market risks require sensitivity analyses that show the effects of 

hypothetical changes in risk variables on the operating result and equity. init is primarily exposed to a 

currency risk. The effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes in the risk variables to the 

amount of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date. 

If the value of the euro relative to the foreign currencies relevant for init on 31 December 2020 had 

appreciated by 10 per cent, the operating result would have been EUR 850k less. The resulting appreciation 

of forward exchange transactions would have totalled EUR 1,440k. As a counter-effect, it would also have 

resulted in expenses of EUR 2,290k owing to cash in banks, trade accounts receivable and liabilities in foreign 

currency. If, however, the value of the euro relative to all foreign currencies relevant for init on 31 December 

2020 had depreciated by 10 per cent, the operating result would have been EUR 1,080k higher. This breaks 

down as follows: EUR 1,719k relates to forward exchange transactions, compensated for by appreciation of 

cash in banks, trade accounts receivable and liabilities in foreign currency of EUR 2,799k. 

If the value of the euro relative to the foreign currencies relevant for init on 31 December 2019 had 

appreciated by 10 per cent, the operating result would have been EUR 556k less. The resulting appreciation 

of forward exchange transactions would have totalled EUR 309k. As a counter-effect, it would also have 

resulted in expenses of EUR 865k owing to cash in banks, trade accounts receivable and liabilities in foreign 

currency. If, however, the value of the euro relative to all foreign currencies relevant for init on 31 December 

2019 had depreciated by 10 per cent, the operating result would have been EUR 680k higher. This breaks 

down as follows: EUR 378k relates to forward exchange transactions, compensated for by appreciation of 

cash in banks, trade accounts receivable and liabilities in foreign currency of EUR 1,058k. 
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Risk of default  

The group does not have any material risk of default concentrations. This is due, on the one hand, to the fact 

that over 90 per cent of the orders are publicly subsidised and, on the other, to the fact that the orders are 

usually paid on account or billed with reference to predefined milestones. Furthermore, the trade accounts 

receivable are checked once a fortnight for receipt of payment and if necessary dunned. Bad debts for the 

2020 financial year totalled EUR 0k (previous year EUR 0k). 

All customers requesting transactions with the init group based on credit are subject to a credit investigation. 

Since the group concludes transactions only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, collateral is not 

considered to be necessary as it is not customary in our business environment. 

The other financial assets of the group, which comprise cash, financial assets available for sale and specific 

derivative financial instruments, involve a maximum risk of default equivalent to the carrying amount of 

the respective instruments in case of default of the contracting party. 

Interest change risk  

The interest change risk to which the group is exposed to mainly results from short term euro loans. Further 

risks can arise from interest rate changes for financial assets. At present an increase in interest rates of 0.5 per 

cent up or down would not have any significant impact on the net assets, financial position and results of 

operations of the init group, due to the small size of such transactions. 

Liquidity risk  

As of 31 December 2020, the financial liabilities of the group had the following maturities. The particulars 

are based on contractual, non-discounted payments plus agreed or anticipated interest expenses (cash 

flows). 

In order to curb liquidity risks, the liquidity of the init group is controlled by the corporate headquarters. The 

main aim is to ensure a minimum liquidity of each company to ensure solvency at all times. Our current 

projects provide the largest source of liquidity. In addition to these current revenues, the init group secures 

the liquidity risk through appropriate lines of credit that can be drawn as needed. Please refer to note 27. 
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As on 31 December 2020, the future cash flows from the financial liabilities were as follows: 

EUR '000  
Carrying 
amount  2021  2022  2023-2025  > 2025 

           

Non-derivative financial liabilities           

Other financial liabilities  55,906  28,220  6,821  20,106  759 
           

Derivative financial liabilities and assets 
without a hedging relationship           

Derivative financial liabilities  11  11  0  0  0 
Derivative financial assets  -288  -288  0  0  0 
Total    -277  0  0  0 

The derivative financial liabilities and assets result in payments totalling EUR 15,746k and payments 

receivable totalling EUR 16,024k. 

As on 31 December 2019, the future cash flows from the financial liabilities were as follows: 

EUR '000  
Carrying 
amount  2020  2021  2021-2023  > 2023 

           

Non-derivative financial liabilities           

Other financial liabilities  40,020  27,562  4,144  6,659  1,655 
           

Derivative financial liabilities and assets 
without a hedging relationship           

Derivative financial liabilities  39  39  0  0  0 
Derivative financial assets  -28  -28  0  0  0 
Total    11  0  0  0 

The derivative financial liabilities and assets result in payments totalling EUR 3,387k and payments 

receivable totalling EUR 3,376k. 
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As on 31 December 2020, the cash flows from lease liabilities were as follows: 

EUR '000  
Carrying 
amount  2021  2022-2025  > 2025 

         

Lease liabilities         

not yet started leases  0  0  0  0 
Lease liabilities  17,100  3,204  9,694  4,202 
thereof according to contract duration  0  196  64  97 

thereof possible extension options  0  9  1,417  1,002 

As on 31 December 2019, the cash flows from lease liabilities were as follows: 

EUR '000  
Carrying 
amount  2020  2021-2024  > 2024 

         

Lease liabilities         

not yet started leases  0  511  2,043  2,681 
Lease liabilities  12,554  2,487  7,453  2,948 
thereof according to contract duration  0  2,306  5,829  2,271 

thereof possible extension options  0  186  1,624  677 

 

32. Explanatory notes on the financial instruments  

Classification and fair values  

The following table presents the carrying amounts of the financial instruments of the group reported in the 

balance sheet on 31 December 2020 compared to 31 December 2019 and shows their classification in 

appropriate measurement categories according to IFRS 9: 
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  2020  2019 
     

ASSETS     

Financial assets at amortised cost  94,106  91,987 
Cash and cash equivalents  32,211  26,174 
Trade accounts receivable  38,650  43,025 
Accounts receivable due from related parties  174  52 
Contract assets  22,174  22,099 
Other financial assets (current)  897  637 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  40  37 
     

Marketable securities and bonds  40  37 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  288  28 
Derivative financial assets  288  28 
     

LIABILITIES     

Financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost  55,901  44,032 
Bank loans (current and non-current)  37,459  30,071 
Trade accounts payable  7,541  8,560 
Other liabilities (current)  2,841  5,401 
Other liabilities (non-current)  8,060  0 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  11  39 
Derivative financial instruments  11  39 
     

Hierarchy of fair values to IFRS 13  

The group uses the following hierarchy to determine and report the fair value:  

Level 1: Inputs are quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Inputs are input parameters with a material impact on the calculated fair value which are directly 

or indirectly observable. 

Level 3: Inputs are input parameters that have a material impact on the calculated fair value, but which are 

not based on observable market data. 

The following table shows the fair values of assets and liabilities, with the exception of those with carrying 

amounts, are reasonable approximations of fair values: 
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EUR '000  

Fair value as 
of 

31/12/2020  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
         

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss         

Derivative financial assets  288  0  288  0 
         

Financial assets available for sale         

Marketable securities and bond issues  40  40  0  0 
         

Financial liabilities  at fair value through 
profit or loss         

Derivative financial instruments  11  0  11  0 
         

         

Evaluation of the fair value of all investment property is carried out on level 3. 

For further information regarding “Assets for which fair values are disclosed / Investment property” please 

refer to note 20. 

EUR '000  

Fair value as 
of 

31/12/2019  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
         

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss         

Derivative financial assets  28  0  28  0 
         

Financial assets available for sale         

Marketable securities and bond issues  37  37  0  0 
         

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss         

Marketable securities and bond issues  39  0  39  0 

Over the course of the reporting periods which ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, there were 

neither reclassifications between the fair value categories of Level 1 and Level 2 nor any reclassifications into 

or out of the fair value category of Level 3. 
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The measurement of fair value at Level 2 in the current financial year and the previous year is as follows: 

derivative financial instruments are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows over the 

remaining term of the contract at the closing rate. 

The measurement of fair value at Level 3 in the current financial year is as follows: The fair value was 

determined using the discounted cash flow method, taking into account the following parameters: price 

developments, discount rate and sales value of the properties.  

Hedging transactions  

The derivative financial instruments used to hedge future cash flows relate exclusively to foreign exchange 

risks in regard to the expected monies received predominantly in US dollars and pound sterling from firm 

transactions. The following derivative financial instruments were concluded: 

  Nominal value    Market values  

EUR '000  31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Forward exchange transactions 
(Sale) in USD  15,746  2,252  278 28 

Forward exchange transactions 
(Sale) in GBP  0  1,135  0 -39 
        

33. Contingencies and other liabilities  

Contingent liabilities  

Contingent liabilities in the amount of EUR 373k from a legal dispute that existed in the previous year no 

longer exist in the current financial year. Due to unsolved technical specifications there is currently a 

contingent liability of EUR 171k (previous year: EUR 184k).  

No other contingent liabilities existed on 31 December 2020. 

Legal disputes  

Within the scope of current business, init SE along with other group companies is involved in legal disputes 

that could have an impact on the financial situation of the group. Legal disputes are subject to many 

uncertainties, and the outcome of individual actions cannot be predicted with any certainty. 

To hedge against risks arising from such disputes, the relevant group companies have set up appropriate 

provisions in their balance sheets where the dispute concerns an event before the reporting date and where 

a liability is likely, and its amount can be determined with sufficient accuracy. Please refer to note 28. 

Over and above this, these disputes are not, in our estimation, expected to have any significant sustained 

effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the init group. 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

34. Additional notes on the cash flow statement  

The cash flow from operating activities includes proceeds from interest amounting to EUR 86k (previous 

year: EUR 98k) and interest payments amounting to EUR -395k (previous year: EUR -317k). 

The cash outflows due to leases amounted to EUR 3,184k (previous year: EUR 4.343k), of which EUR 418k 

(previous year: EUR 131k) are attributable to the cash flow from operating activities and prepayments for a 

right-of-use asset amounting to EUR 5,792k (previous year: EUR 1,363k) to the cash flow from investing 

activities, another EUR -3,027k (previous year: EUR 2,849k) to the cash flow from financing activities. 

The cash flows for investments in property, plant and equipment mainly relate to maintenance of capacities 

and expansion investments. The rest of cash flow from investing activities relate mainly to acquisitions of 

subsidiaries. 

As in the previous year there were no inflows from dividend distributions. The outflow for dividends on init 

shares totalled EUR 3,982k (previous year: EUR 1,200k). 

35. Related party transactions  

The companies included in the consolidated financial statements and the associated companies are listed in 

the Section basis of consolidation. 

  
Associated 
companies    Other related parties and persons 

EUR '000  31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Trade accounts receivable and 
other income  2,558  250  0 0 

Trade accounts payable and 
other expenses  325  130  575 574 
Receivables at 31/12  174  277  0 0 
Payables at 31/12  0  14  0 0 
        

Associated companies  

Amounts owed by associated companies mainly result from trade accounts receivables from Bytemark and 

have a remaining term of less than one year. These are reported in the balance sheet under accounts 

receivable due from related parties. 
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Other related party transactions  

init SE rents an office building in Kaeppelestrasse 6 in Karlsruhe with 67.39 per cent from Dr. Gottfried 

Greschner GmbH & Co. Vermögens-Verwaltungs KG, Karlsruhe and with 32.61 per cent from Eila Greschner. 

The monthly rent payments are approximately EUR 46k (total annual rent: EUR 547k). The rent is 

contractually fixed until 30 June 2026. Total payments of EUR 8k (previous year: EUR 9k) made to family 

members of Board members were recognised under personnel expenses. 

Terms and conditions of business transactions with related parties and persons 

Sales to, and purchases from, related parties and persons are made under generally accepted market terms. 

There are no guarantees at all for accounts receivable or payable in regard to related parties and persons. The 

group did not accrue any cumulative value adjustments for accounts receivable from related parties and 

persons for the financial year to 31 December 2020 (previous year: EUR 0k). 

Remuneration of persons in key management positions   

The members of the Managing Board of init SE and the managing directors of INIT GmbH are considered to 

be persons in key management positions. For details on their remuneration, please refer to note 40. 

36. Geographical Information  

In the consolidated financial statements, the following amounts can be allocated to the regions specified. In 

addition to Germany, the regions in which revenues were generated mainly include the rest of Europe 

(including UK, Luxembourg, Netherlands and Norway) and North America (USA and Canada). 

Revenues 01/01 to 31/12 

EUR '000  2020  %  2019  % 
         

Germany  47,298  26.2  44,426  28.4 
Rest of Europe  37,674  20.8  37,906  24.2 
North America  75,793  42.0  55,673  35.6 
Other countries (Australia, UAE)  19,903  11.0  18,459  11.8 
Group total  180,668  100.0  156,464  100.0 
         

The revenue information given above is based on the location of the customer. 
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Non-current assets 31/12 

EUR '000  2020  %  2019  % 
         

Germany  61,497  78.9  43,426  72.7 
Rest of Europe  2,147  2.8  680  1.1 
North America  13,653  17.5  14,990  25.1 
Other countries (Australia, UAE)  619  0.8  622  1.0 
Group total  77,916  100.0  59,718  100.0 
         

The non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, investment property, intangible assets and 

interests in associated companies. 

37. Share-based renumeration 

Employee shares  

In 2020 and 2019, there was no share-based remuneration for employees. 

Equity-settled management bonuses  

A further bonus for 2020 in the form of 750 or 1,500 shares will be granted to the Managing Board, if EBIT 

exceeds EUR 8m after deduction of all bonuses. In addition, for every EUR 1m profit of the amount exceeding 

EUR 8m up to an amount of EUR 15m further 150 or 300 shares as a bonus. Likewise, for every EUR 1m euros 

of profit in excess of EUR 15m 250 and 500 shares were granted as a bonus. The number of shares is limited 

to 10,000 and 20,000 Shares restricted. In the previous year, the Managing Board was entitled to a further 

bonus in the form of 750 and 1,500 shares EUR 5m before taxes and after deduction of all bonuses. In addition, 

for each EUR 1m of profit in excess of EUR 5m, up to an amount of 10m, a further 50 or 100 shares were 

granted as bonuses. In addition, a profit of EUR 1m of the amount exceeding EUR 10m up to an amount of 

EUR 15m, a further 100 or 200 shares is granted as a bonus. Likewise, for every 1 million euros of profit in 

excess of EUR 15m, further 150 and 300 shares respectively were granted as a bonus. The shares are subject 

to a lock-up period of five years and cannot be sold during this period. The income tax on the pecuniary 

advantage of the share transfer is borne by the company. No legal claim may be made to payment of this 

bonus in the form of shares, even where paid in previous years. The bonus is revised and agreed each year 

by the Supervisory Board. 

In addition, managing directors of subsidiaries of the company are paid an equity settled bonus, the amount 

of which depends on the level EBIT. A total of 19,298 shares (previous year: 7,373) with a vesting period of 

five years were granted to the managing directors and to key personnel. The taxes relating to the share 

transfer are borne by the group. 

On 31 December 2020, the valuation was based on 26,400 shares (previous year: 18,275). At the time of 

approval, the fair value based on the market price of the equity instruments issued amounted to EUR 598k 
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(EUR 32.70 per share) (previous year: EUR 301k) for the Managing Board and EUR 315k (EUR 38.90 per share) 

(previous year: EUR 126k) for key personnel; these amounts were recorded as expenses in 2020. 

38. Subsequent events  

There are no events after the balance sheet date that have a material impact on the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations. Please refer to the management report for the effects of the coronavirus. 

39. Employees, Managing Board and Supervisory Board  

Employees  

The annual average number of employees was as follows:  

  2020  2019 
     

Employees Germany  784  680 
Employees rest of Europe  52  40 
Employees North America  138  123 
Employees other countries  35  23 
Total  1,009  866 
     

Due to acquisition of the DResearch Group in 2020 the headcount increased by 60. 

Managing Board  

The following members make up the Managing Board of init SE: 

   

Dr. Gottfried Greschner, Karlsruhe, Germany  Chief Executive Officer 

Dr. Jürgen Greschner, Pfinztal, Germany  Chief Sales Officer (Deputy Chairman) 
Jennifer Bodenseh, Landau, Germany  Chief Financial Officer 

Matthias Kühn, Karlsruhe, Germany  Chief Operating Officer 

Dr. Gottfried Greschner is a member of the foundation board of Majolika-Stiftung für Kunst- und 

Kulturförderung, Karlsruhe. 
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Supervisory Board  

The members of the Supervisory Board of init SE are: 

Dipl.-Kfm. Hans-Joachim Rühlig, 
Ostfildern, Germany, Chairman  

Former Financial Managing Director of Ed. Züblin AG, Stuttgart, 
Independent financial expert within the meaning of Section 100 (5) AktG 
Member of Supervisory Board of foundation building industry, Stuttgart 
Member Advisory Board of DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik GmbH, Berlin 

Dipl.-Ing. Ulrich Sieg, 
Jork, Germany, Deputy Chairman  

Consulting engineer specialising in public transportation, 
Member of Supervisory Board of SECURITAS Holding GmbH, 

Duesseldorf, Germany 
Member Advisory Board of HanseCom Public Transport Ticketing Solutions GmbH, 

Hamburg, Germany 
Dipl.-Ing. (FH), M.A. Christina Greschner 
Karlsruhe, Member  Currently on parental leave 
Drs. Hans Rat, 
Schoonhoven, The Netherlands, Member  

Honorary Secretary General of UITP, 
Managing Director of Beaux Jardins B.V., Schoonhoven, The Netherlands 

40. Disclosure of the compensation of key management personnel 

The members of the Managing Board received total remuneration of EUR 2,761k (previous year: EUR 2,225k). 

This total includes fixed salaries of EUR 1,395k (previous year: EUR 1,475k), variable remuneration in the 

form of management bonuses of EUR 240k (previous year: EUR 204k), and EUR 1,126k (previous year: 

EUR 546k) in the form of shares, including the income tax payable for them. The managing directors of INIT 

GmbH, who are not members of the Managing Board of init SE, received total remuneration of EUR 1,049k 

(previous year: EUR 976k). This total includes fixed salaries of EUR 929k (previous year EUR 881k), variable 

remuneration in the form of management bonuses of EUR 0k (previous year: EUR 38k) and EUR 120k 

(previous year: EUR 57k) in the form of shares. This amount includes EUR 317k for two former members of 

the Supervisory Board. In compliance with Section 315a (1) HGB in conjunction with Section 314 (1) no. 6a 

sentences 5 to 8 HGB, the individualised disclosure of the Managing Board members’ salaries can be withheld 

for a period of five years (Section 314 (2) sentence 2 in conjunction with Section 286 (5) HGB), which the 

Annual General Meeting on 21 July 2016 resolved to do.  

The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board members for 2020 amounted to EUR 364k (previous year: 

EUR 236k). This includes a variable share of EUR 239k (previous year: EUR 121k) and is distributed as follows: 

EUR '000  Fixed  Variable 
     

Dipl.-Kfm. Hans-Joachim Rühlig  50  96 
Dipl.-Ing. Ulrich Sieg  25  48 
Dipl.-Ing. (FH), M.A. Christina Greschner  25  48 
Drs. Hans Rat  25  48 

In the 2020 financial year, the members of the Supervisory Board received EUR 0k (previous year: EUR 0k) for 

consulting activities. 
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41. Auditor  

The auditing firm Ernst & Young GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Stuttgart, received compensation 

for audits of EUR 333k (previous year: EUR 287k), which was recorded as expenses. Expenditure for tax 

consulting services amounted to EUR 70k (previous year: EUR 22k). Other appraisal services incurred costs of 

EUR 0k (previous year: EUR 0k), and other services, of EUR 8k (previous year: EUR 16k).  

42. Declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code  

The declaration of compliance for init SE was made by the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board on 

8 December 2020, and was made available to the shareholders on our website at 

https://www.initse.com/ende/investors/corporate-governance.html  

43. Notifications under Section 26 (1) WpHG  

For the year 2020, no notifications of changes in the voting rights of init SE pursuant to Section 33 et seq. 

WpHG.  

On 26 May 2020, Midlin MV, Maarsbergen, the Netherlands informed us according to Section 33 (1) WpHG 

that its voting rights via shares in init innovation in traffic systems SE, Karlsruhe, Germany, fell short of the 

3 per cent threshold of the voting rights on 20 May 2020 and on that day amounted to 2.94 per cent (this 

corresponds to 295,217 voting rights).  

Teslin Capital Management BV, Maarsbergen, the Netherlands informed us on 26 May 2020, according to 

Section 33 (1) WpHG that its voting rights via shares in init innovation in traffic systems SE, Karlsruhe, 

Germany, held via Midlin NV, Maarsbergen, the Netherlands, fell short of the 3 per cent threshold of the 

voting rights on 20 May 2020 and on that day amounted to 2.94 per cent (this corresponds to 295,217 voting 

rights).  

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A, Luxembourg, informed us on 23 December 2020, according to Section 33 

(1) WpHG that its voting rights via shares in init innovation in traffic systems SE, Karlsruhe, Germany, fell 

short of the 3 per cent threshold of the voting rights on 21 December 2020 and on that day amounted to 

3 per cent (this corresponds to 301,278 voting rights).  
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44. Approval of consolidated financial statement 

At the Management Board meetings on 8 March and 10 March 2021, the consolidated financial statements 

and the combined management report of init SE as of 31 December 2020 issued by the Managing Board were 

approved for submission to the Supervisory Board. 

Karlsruhe, 19 March 2021 

The Managing Board  

 

           

 

Dr. Gottfried Greschner  Dr. Jürgen Greschner  

 

Jennifer Bodenseh  Matthias Kühn 
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AUDIT OPTION 

“Independent auditor’s report 

To init innovation in traffic systems SE, Karlsruhe 

Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of init innovation in traffic systems SE, Karlsruhe, 

and its subsidiaries (the “group”), which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020, the consol-

idated balance sheet as of 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the con-

solidated cash flow statement for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020, and the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, including the recognition and measurement principles presented 

therein. In addition, we have audited the group management report, which is combined with the manage-

ment report of init innovation in traffic systems SE for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 

2020. In accordance with the German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of the statement 

on corporate governance, which is published on the website stated in the group management report and is 

part of the group management report. We have also not audited the content of the disclosures which are not 

typical of management reports contained in section “Responsibility Statement by the Legal Representatives” 

of the group management report. This relates to any information whose disclosure in the group manage-

ment report is not required pursuant to Sections 315, 315a or Sections 315b to 315d HGB [“Han-

delsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code]. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,  

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs 

as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec-

tion 315e (1) HGB and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, 

liabilities and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of its financial performance 

for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020, and 

• the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the group’s 

position. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated 

financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the op-

portunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the group management report does not 

cover the content of the declaration on corporate governance and the content of the abovementioned 

section “Responsibility Statement by the Legal Representatives” of the group management report.  

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) Sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations relating 

to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report. 
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Basis for the opinions  

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report in 

accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently as 

“EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial State-

ment Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] 

(IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report” 

section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements 

of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German 

professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in accordance with Article 

10 (2) f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited 

under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-

cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on 

the group management report.  

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Below, we describe what we consider to be the key audit matters: 

1. First-time consolidation of the DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik  Group 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 

By agreement dated 28 April 2020, init SE acquired 51 per cent of the shares in the group of DResearch Fahr-

zeugelektronik GmbH, Berlin and Derovis GmbH, Berlin, indirectly via its wholly owned subsidiary iris-

GmbH infrared & intelligent sensors, Berlin. The remaining 49 per cent of the shares will be acquired as of 

1 January 2022. Pursuant to IFRS 3, the acquisition was treated as a business combination and accounted for 

using the acquisition method. For the purchase price allocation, the identifiable assets acquired and liabili-

ties assumed of the acquired entity were measured at fair values. Due to the estimation uncertainty involved 

in the measurement of assets and liabilities in connection with purchase price allocation, especially against 

the background of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as due to the overall material effects of the acquisition 

on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the init group, we determined this to be a 

key audit matter. 
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Auditor’s response 

During our audit of the acquisition of the group of DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik GmbH, Berlin and Derovis 

GmbH, Berlin, at first we inspected and verified the contractual agreements, and reconciled the purchase 

price paid as consideration for the acquired business operations with the documents made available to us. 

Building on this, we then assessed the acquisition statement of financial position at fair values at the date 

of first-time consolidation. Among other things, we assessed the measurements underlying the models and 

the measurement parameters and assumptions applied for appropriateness, also against the background of 

the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. In light of the special aspects involved in the determination of fair 

values in connection with the purchase price allocation, we consulted with our valuation specialists. In ad-

dition to this, we verified the calculation of the difference from acquisition accounting. Furthermore, we 

assessed the disclosures in the notes to the financial statements required in accordance with IFRS 3. Overall, 

we were satisfied that the accounting treatment of this acquisition was appropriate and the estimates and 

assumptions made by the executive directors are plausible and adequately explained.  

Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the first-time consolidation of the 

DResearch Fahrzeugelektronik Group. 

Reference to related disclosures 

For information on the first-time consolidation, please refer to the disclosures under Section 3 “Accounting 

policies and consolidation principles” of the notes to the financial statements. 

2. Revenues from construction contracts 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 

The init group mainly generates its revenues from project development work for local public transport sup-

pliers. These projects are generally long-term construction contracts; income from these contracts is recog-

nized based on the effective progress (revenue recognition over time) of the respective performance obliga-

tions. The percentage of completion of unfinished and incomplete performance obligations as of the report-

ing date is calculated using the cost-to-cost method. We defined this subject matter as a key audit matter for 

our audit because the application of the revenue recognition over time method requires judgment by man-

agement related to the performance obligations identified in contracts, remaining total contract costs and 

total contract revenues. Changes in these judgments may lead to a significant increase or decrease in reve-

nues and in net profit or loss for the period. Regarding revenue recognition, there is also a risk of error or 

infringement, whether due to fraud or error, when determining the achievement of performance targets and 

forecasts. 

Auditor’s response 

As part of our audit we relied on a controls-based approach and assessed and tested the underlying corporate 

processes. Furthermore, we also performed substantive audit procedures.  
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Our audit procedures included reviewing significant contracts and analyzing the identified performance ob-

ligations. The audit also included reviewing whether the progress of the project with regard to the contract 

values and the share of the costs incurred was determined correctly. For this purpose, we particularly re-

viewed the allocation of costs regarding the amount and the related project using orders, evidence of perfor-

mance as well as supplier invoices. We also examined samples of costs reported by every employee involved 

on a project by reconciling the incurred hours with the recorded hours and obtained an understanding of the 

hourly rates used for the calculation for individual employee groups. Furthermore, we tested the recognized 

future costs for plausibility and assessed the budget history to draw conclusions regarding reliability of the 

future cost estimates. We obtained explanations and evidence from the project managers for significant de-

viations from previous-year assumptions for costs recorded in the reporting period. We assessed the compli-

ance of the accounting and measurement principles applied by init innovation in traffic systems SE for the 

recognition of revenues with the IFRS framework and the relevant IFRSs standards. With regard to further 

application of IFRS 15, we examined the processes implemented by init innovation in traffic systems SE for 

determining the necessary disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.  

In assessing the contract analysis performed by the executive directors, we evaluated in particular whether 

the requirements to recognize revenue over a period of time have been met based on a sample of construc-

tion contracts.  

In addition, we assessed the disclosures on revenue recognition required by IFRS 15 made in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements of init innovation in traffic systems SE. 

 Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the accounting treatment of revenues 

from construction contracts. 

Reference to related disclosures  

The company’s disclosures on revenue recognition from construction contracts are to be found in the “Reve-

nue Recognition” section of Section 3 “Accounting policies and consolidation principles” and in Section 4 

“Revenues” in the notes to the income statement in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

3. Measurement of inventories 

Reasons why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter 

The init group procures a significant amount of hardware for processing construction contracts. To safeguard 

long-term supply to customers, the init group procures and stores significant inventories beyond hose 

needed to process the construction contract, particularly for hardware components. Due to the high level of 

customization and the general technical development, the majority of these hardware components can only 

be used as spare parts for past contracts. These are recognized at the lower of cost or net realizable value. To 

ensure the measurement of inventories at the lower of these values, the company determined the expected 

net realizable values, as far as they can be estimated taking into account the current price development 
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against the background of the COVID-19 pandemic, with the help of age-specific percentage allowances that 

are based on experience and evaluations of past projects. The determination of the allowances applied is 

based on assumptions from past experience and is therefore subject to judgement by the executive directors 

of the company.  

Auditor’s response 

Taking into account the fact that there is an elevated risk of misstatements in the accounting due to the 

estimates and assumptions being made, we examined the valuation processes implemented by the init 

group and verified the allowances used. For this purpose, also against the background of the COVID-19 pan-

demic, we discussed the expected sales or processing periods for significant inventories with project manag-

ers, checked the procedure of past projects for consistency with the assumed sales or processing periods, thus 

reviewing the appropriateness of the allowances on a sample basis. In addition, we recalculated the system-

based implementation of the impairments calculated using the defined allowances on a sample basis. To 

mitigate the inherent audit risk of this audit field, we ensured a group-wide consistent audit by issuing cor-

responding instructions to the component auditors.  

Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations relating to the measurement of inventories.  

Reference to related disclosures  

Further disclosures on the measurement of inventories are to be found in section “Estimates and assump-

tions” and “Inventories” section of Section 3 “Accounting policies and consolidation principles” and in Sec-

tion 5 “Costs of sales” in the notes to the income statement as well as in Section 17 “Inventories” in the notes 

to the statement of financial position in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the company. 

Other information  

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the Report of the Supervisory Board according to Section 171 (2) 

AktG [“Aktiengesetz”: German Stock Corporation Act] as well as for their CVs. The executive directors and the 

Supervisory Board are responsible for the declaration pursuant to Section 161 AktG on the German Corporate 

Governance Code, which is part of the declaration on corporate governance. In all other respects, the execu-

tive directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the statement on 

corporate governance published on the website stated in the group management report and the abovemen-

tioned disclosures which are not typical of management reports contained in section “Responsibility State-

ment by the Legal Representatives” of the group management report. The other information also comprises 

the non-financial report, of which we received a version prior to issuing this auditor’s report. Furthermore, 

the other information comprises additional parts to be included in the annual report, of which we obtained 

a version prior to issuing this auditor’s report, in particular: 

• Letter from the CEO; 

• Managing Board of init SE; 
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• Report of the Supervisory Board; 

• Supervisory Board of init SE; 

• Statement on corporate governance pursuant to Section 289f (2) HGB and Principle 22 GCGC 2020 and 

• init share. 

• Multi-period overview of the group key figures (IFRS) 

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not cover 

the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance con-

clusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider 

whether the other information 

• is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group management 

report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

• otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of the executive directors and the supervisory board for the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report 

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 

comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German 

commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB, and that the consolidated financial statements, in com-

pliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 

financial performance of the Group. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such internal 

control as they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going 

concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there 

is no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the group management report 

that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, con-

sistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropri-

ately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors are 
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responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the 

preparation of a group management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal require-

ments, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management 

report. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the prepara-

tion of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report.   

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group man-

agement report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group manage-

ment report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is 

consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies 

with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future devel-

opment, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the group management report.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-

ance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted 

Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will al-

ways detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered mate-

rial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic deci-

sions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this group management 

report.  

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the engagement. We 

also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and 

of the group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-

representations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group management 

report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.  
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reasona-

bleness of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of account-

ing and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the group manage-

ment report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, in-

cluding the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compliance 

with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursu-

ant to Section 315e (1) HGB.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 

on the group management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 

of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions. 

• Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial state-

ments, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides. 

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the 

group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in par-

ticular, the significant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective in-

formation, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assump-

tions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions 

used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from 

the prospective information. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal con-

trol that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant 

independence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may rea-

sonably be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, the related safeguards.  
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter. 

Other legal and regulatory requirements 

Report on the assurance in accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB on the electronic reproduction of the 

consolidated financial statements and the group management report prepared for publication purposes  

Opinion 

We have performed assurance work in accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report 

(hereinafter the “ESEF documents”) contained in the attached electronic file INIT SE_KA+KLB_ESEF 

31122020.zip and prepared for publication purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements 

of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). In accordance with German legal 

requirements, this assurance only extends to the conversion of the information contained in the consoli-

dated financial statements and the group management report into the ESEF format and therefore relates 

neither to the information contained in this reproduction nor to any other information contained in the 

abovementioned electronic file. 

In our opinion, the reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report 

contained in the abovementioned attached electronic file and prepared for publication purposes complies in 

all material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format. We do 

not express any opinion on the information contained in this reproduction nor on any other information 

contained in the abovementioned file beyond this reasonable assurance opinion and our audit opinion on 

the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the accompanying group management report for 

the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2020 contained in the “Report on the audit of the consoli-

dated financial statements and of the group management report” above.  

Basis for the opinion  

We conducted our assurance work on the reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the 

group management report contained in the abovementioned attached electronic file in accordance with Sec-

tion 317 (3b) HGB and Exposure Draft of IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance in Accordance with Section 317 

(3b) HGB on the Electronic Reproduction of Financial Statements and Management Reports Prepared for Pub-

lication Purposes (ED IDW AsS 410). Our responsibilities under that standard are further described in the 

“Group auditor’s responsibilities for the assurance work on the ESEF documents” section. Our audit firm ap-

plied the requirements for quality control systems set forth in IDW Standard on Quality Control: “Require-

ments for Quality Control in Audit Firms” (IDW QS 1).  
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Responsibilities of the executive directors and the Supervisory Board for the ESEF documents 

The executive directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents including 

the electronic reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in 

accordance with Section 328 (1) Sentence 4 No. 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated financial state-

ments in accordance with Section 328 (1) Sentence 4 No. 2 HGB. 

In addition, the executive directors of the Company are responsible for such internal control as they have 

considered necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material non-compli-

ance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format, whether due to fraud 

or error.  

The executive directors of the Company are also responsible for the submission of the ESEF documents to-

gether with the auditor’s report and the attached audited consolidated financial statements and the audited 

group management report as well as other documents to be published to the operator of the Bundesanzeiger 

[German Federal Gazette].  

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of the ESEF documents as part of the 

financial reporting process. 

Group auditor’s responsibilities for the assurance work on the ESEF documents  

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material 

non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, whether due to fraud or error. We exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the engagement. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance opinion. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in order to 

design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-

pressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.  

• Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e., whether the electronic file containing the ESEF 

documents meets the requirements of Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the version valid as of the 

reporting date, on the technical specification for this electronic file. 

• Evaluate whether the ESEF documents enable an XHTML reproduction with content equivalent to the 

audited consolidated financial statements and to the audited group management report.  

• Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) enables an 

appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML reproduction.  
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Further information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation  

We were elected as group auditor by the Annual General Meeting on 26 June 2020. We were engaged by the 

Supervisory Board on 2 November 2020. We have been the auditor of init innovation in traffic systems SE 

without interruption since financial year 2001.  

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report to 

the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).  

In addition to the financial statement audit, we have provided to group entities the following services that 

are not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements or in the group management report: 

• Voluntary audit of annual financial statements, 

• Tax advisory as well as 

• Review of interim financial statements. 

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Peter Werling.” 

 

Stuttgart, March 22 2021 

Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

 

Werling   Derosa 

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Balance Sheet (31/12)

Balance sheet total 226,645 200,398 168,461 176,805 185,132

Shareholders’ equity 90,522 85,547 75,762 73,309 76,401

Subscribed capital 10,040 10,040 10,040 10,040 10,040

Equity ration (in %) 40.0 42.7 45.0 41.5 41.3

Debt capital 136,123 114,851 92,699 103,496 108,731

Non-current assets 96,597 76,684 62,109 64,191 65,576

Non-current assets 130,048 123,714 106,352 112,614 119,556

Cash 32,211 26,174 20,620 19,763 23,920

Income Statement (01/01–31/12)

Revenues 180,668 156,464 135,711 130,554 108,635

Gross profit 62,167 53,238 45,979 42,662 31,294

EBIT 19,642 16,240 6,372 8,563 11,665

EBITDA 28,891 23,453 10,942 12,763 15,722

Consolidated net profit 14,943 11,335 2,439 3,644 8,609

Earnings per share (in EUR) 1.50 1.13 0.24 0.37 0.86

Dividend (in EUR) 0.55* 0.40 0.12 0.22 0.22

Cashflow

Cash flow from operating activities 24,437 21,132 12,809 2,051 13,182

Share

Issue price (in EUR) 5.10 5.10 5.10 5.10 5.10

Peak share price (in EUR) 37.60 23.80 22.00 20.47 16.80

Bottom share price (in EUR) 15.25 12.15 13.80 13.51 12.60

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
of the init group (IFRS)

* dividend to be proposed to the AGM 2021
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Q1Q1
Q2Q2

Q3Q3
Q4Q4

25 March
Publication Annual Report 2020  

Press and Analyst Conference (virtual)

11 May
Publication Quarterly Statement 1/2021

19 May
Annual General Meeting 2021 (virtual)

11 August
Publication Half-Year Financial Report 2021

10 November
Publication Quarterly Statement 3/2021

22/23 November
Equity Forum (one-on-one meetings)

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2021
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